Public Document Pack

RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

at the Council Offices, Farnborough on
Thursday, 12th September, 2024 at 7.00 pm

To:

Clir Halleh Koohestani (Chairman)
Clir Nadia Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Clir S. Trussler (Vice-Chairman)

CllIr Leola Card
ClIr A.H. Crawford
Cllr P.J. Cullum
Clir Thomas Day
Cllr C.P. Grattan
Clir G.B. Lyon
CliIr Bill O'Donovan
Cllr M.J. Tennant

Standing Deputy
Clir C.W. Card

Cllr S.J. Masterson
Clir T.W. Mitchell
Cllr Sarah Spall
Clir Jacqui Vosper
Cllr Ivan Whitmee

Enquiries regarding this agenda should be referred to the Administrator, Adele
Taylor, Democratic Services, Tel. (01252) 398831, Email.
adele.taylor@rushmoor.gov.uk.




AGENDA
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - (Pages 1 - 4)
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 1st August, 2024 (copy attached).
FINANCIAL MATTERS - CIPFA REPORT - (Pages 5 - 62)

To receive a report on the recently published Chartered Institute of Public Finance
and Accountancy (CIPFA) Report (copy attached) for the Council.

Simon Allsop, Managing Consultant - Financial Management at CIPFA will be joining
the meeting via MS Teams to provide an independent overview of the report and
address any questions raised by the Committee. The Council’'s Executive Head of
Finance, Peter Vickers will also be in attendance.

WORK PLAN - (Pages 63 - 70)

To consider the Work Plan for the 2024/25 Municipal Year (copy attached).

MEETING REPRESENTATION

Members of the public may ask to speak at the meeting on any of the items on the
agenda by writing to the Committee Administrator at the Council Offices,
Farnborough by 5.00 pm two working days prior to the meeting.

Applications for items to be considered for the next meeting must be received in
writing to the Committee Administrator fifteen working days prior to the meeting.




AGENDA ITEM No. 1

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

Meeting held on Thursday, 1st August, 2024 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at
7.00 pm.

Voting Members
Cllr Halleh Koohestani (Chairman)
Cllr Nadia Matrtin (Vice-Chairman)
ClIr S. Trussler (Vice-Chairman)

CllIr Leola Card
Cllr P.J. Cullum
Cllr C.P. Grattan
Cllr G.B. Lyon
ClIr Bill O'Donovan

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllir A.H. Crawford, Clir
Thomas Day and Clir M.J. Tennant

Clirs Sarah Spall, Jacqui Vosper and Ivan Whitmee attended as Standing Deputies.
APPOINTMENT OF STANDING DEPUTY

NOTED: The appointment of Clir S.J. Masterson as Standing Deputy for the
Committee for the 2024/25 Municipal Year in place of Clir M.D. Smith.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 13th June, 2024 were agreed as a correct
record.

DELIVERY OF KEY ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES - RUSHMOOR BOROUGH
COUNCIL & SERCO IN PARTNERSHIP

The Committee welcomed Ms Ruth Whaymand, the Council’'s Environmental
Contracts Service Manager and Mr Aaron Straker, SERCO Contract Manager who
were in attendance to present SERCO’s 2023/24 Annual Report. Also present was
Cllr Becky Williams, Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Holder, who had been invited
to attend for this item.

Ms Whaymand set the scene and explained what would be covered during this
session. She recapped the process by which the contract had been awarded in 2017
and provided an overview of the service areas involved. It was stressed that the
relationship between the Council and SERCO was a very close one, with a ‘one
team’ approach to service provision. A number of changes had been made to the

-5-
Page 1



contract since 2017, including the introduction of weekly food waste collections and
alternate weekly collection for rubbish and recycling.

Mr Straker started by setting out background information about SERCO and how the
company operated. In relation to the services delivered at Rushmoor. These could
be set out under three headings:

. Collections
o Street Cleansing
o Ground Maintenance

The Committee was provided with data in relation to domestic collections, including
various performance measures. It was confirmed that such information was
discussed between SERCO and the Council at monthly performance review
meetings. Mr Straker admitted that the missed food collection rate was higher than
he would like and steps were being taken to address this. The Committee discussed
the collections section of the presentation and made the following comments:

o Important that residents eligible for the assisted collection scheme know how
to access this — confirmed that this should be arranged through the Customer
Services team

o Currently an issue around the replacement of broken food waste bins —
ensure SERCO made aware on every occasion

o Will be interesting to see how the development of Al impacts on this service
area
o Explained that the Council uses Portsmouth City Council for internal audit as

the Council’s internal auditor does not have capacity to carry this out
o Publicity needs to be clearer on the disposal of vapes

o Discussion around collections from properties where bins are unavoidably
stored permanently on pavements and collections from HMOs and flats

o Clarified that a 3% pay rise would result in £35,000 increased expenditure

o In relation to the Megaskip proposal, SERCO have quoted for a pilot involving
regular collections from high-risk areas using a box van

o Confirmed that missed bin stats rely on resident reporting on every occasion

In relation to street cleansing, Mr Straker explained that SERCO provided four cage
teams, responsible for cleansing specific sites such as shop fronts, parks and car
parks, along with emptying the 800 litter bins in the Borough. In addition to the cage
teams, there were two town centre barrow beats that were aimed at keeping

-6 -
Page 2



Aldershot and Farnborough town centres clean and tidy. The Hit Squad was a team
of streets operatives that cleansed roads across the Borough using one large and
two small mechanical sweepers. Finally, a team of public toilets operatives was
responsible for the opening, closing, cleansing and restocking of public toilets. The
Committee discussed the street cleansing section of the presentation and made the
following comments:

o Excess litter on the A331 was discussed — this was acknowledged but
explained that this was a complex situation with SERCO working jointly with
two County Councils and a total of three district councils in respect of this
section of road

o Weeding in parks was discussed — explained that spraying of weeds no longer
takes place and manual weeding not part of the current contract

o Explained there is a leaf clearance schedule that started in November and is
publicised on website

o It has been noticed that toilets around parks and fields no longer open —
explained that this is a cost saving and to reverse would have a cost
implication

AGREED - that the Cabinet be informed that the Committee considers that
environmental factors are important when making decisions about the budget.

In relation to grounds maintenance, Mr Straker explained that the variable climate
brings challenges and, this year, this has led to falling behind with grass cutting.
Members heard that grounds maintenance was monitored and managed closely by
the Council with a partnership approach. The Committee discussed the street
cleansing section of the presentation and made the following comments:

o Clarified that grass cuttings were never collected and always mulched

o In relation to wild verges — confirmed that these were not specifically seeded
with wildflowers/plants but allowed to develop naturally

o No assessment made yet of any biodiversity gain from development of wild
verges and reduced cutting of grass

o Asked if grass cutting schedule could be shared with ward councillors

o Queried whether SERCO had the ability to scale up operations now to catch
up with grass cutting — SERCO doing best to do this

o Confirmed that no weeding was a policy decision and forms part of the
contract — there is a small budget available to deal with hot spots

o Members were invited to submit any further questions or comments via email

Page 3



10.

In rounding off his presentation, Mr Straker provided information to Members around
contract management and compliance, on board vehicle technologies that assisted
operatives, health and safety, SERCO employee wellbeing and innovations,
including the potential future use of electric freighters. It was confirmed that the
current contract was due to expire in July, 2027. In discussing this final section, the
Committee made the following comments:

o Would be helpful for residents to be informed of the reasons for recycling
being rejected due to contamination — to be investigated, perhaps use of
different stickers

o Confirmed that, if contract renewed, it was likely that existing vehicles would
be replaced

The Chairman thanked Ms Whaymand and Mr Straker for their presentations.
WORK PLAN

The Committee noted the current Work Plan and that there would be two meetings in
September, with the CIPFA report being considered on 12th September and, on 19th
September, Chief Inspector Cox and the Council’'s Community Safety Team would

be in attendance.

The Progress Group was due to meet on 15th August to plan the Committee’s future
activities.

The meeting closed at 9.42 pm.

CLLR HALLEH KOOHESTANI (CHAIRMAN)

Page 4



CIPFA\

Rushmoor Borough
Council: Financia
Resilience Review

Final

June 2024



Table of contents

R 11 0T [ o1 1 o PP 3
2. EXECULIVE SUIMMIAIY ...t itiiiieiiiiiie e et ee e ettt e sttt e e et e e e e sbe e e e e e sbb et e e e st et e e e anbbe e e e e nnnbeeeeennees 4
3. Financial Management and Sustainability ... 9
1] 0o [8 Tox i o] o DTSRRI 9
Financial Trajectory 2021/22 — 2023/24 ... 9
Revenue Budget 2024/25 and MTFS 2024/25 — 2027/28.........cccueeeieeeiiiicciiiiieee e 10
Financial Management, Risk Management and ComplianCe..........ccccceeeveieiiiiciiiec e, 17
Capital FIEXIDIITIES. ......eeeee e e s st e e e naree s 20
1070} o To] 1181 (o] o PRI 22
4. Debt and CommErCial ASSELS.......c.uuuiiiiiee ittt e e e a e e e e s aea e 24
1D = o ) PRSP 24
Treasury Management INVESTMENT ............uiiiiiiiieiieieieeee e 29
Commercial Property INVESIMENTS........coiiii i e e rree e e e e 31
ASSEL DISPOSAI PIAN .. 31
(@20 o (1] T o ISP 32
5. Capital Programme and COMPANIES .........uvtiiiiuiiieeiiiiiee et e et e s e e e e snneeeeaae 33
(=T o1 v= |l = £ o Tir=Ta 111 0= PRI 33
RUSNMOOT COMPANIES ...ttt e et e s e e e e e e e e e nnees 35
(O] o Tox (1] T o PSRRI 38
6. GOVEIMANCE ... 41
Alignment of the Council Plan with the MTFS ... 41
GOVEINANCE AIMMANGEIMENTS ...ciiiii ittt ireie e et e e e e s r e e e e e s s s e e e e e e e s s s snnrnreeeeeenas 42
OPEratioNAl CUIUIE ... e e e e e e s s e st ba e e e e e e e e s e snnreaeeeeaeeas 46
L0 o o] 1113 (] o PR 47
7. Improvement Proposals and RecommeNndationsS............oocuviieiiiiieeeiniiieeessieeeeessieeee e 48
Appendix A — Financial Trajectory 2021/22 — 2023/24 ... eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 51
Appendix B — Financial Resilience Plan as at February 2024.............cccccoveviieeeiiccciiieeeeen, 58

Page 6 2



1. Introduction

Rushmoor Borough Council (Rushmoor) has identified a threat to its future financial
sustainability as is set out in the General Fund Budget 2024-25 and Medium Term Financial
Strategy 2024-25 to 2027-28 reported to Cabinet and the Council in February 2024. We
understand that Rushmoor entered into dialogue with DLUHC in late 2023 in relation to this
and were advised that their focus was only on those Councils that had or were likely to be
unable to set a balanced budget in 2024/25 and therefore Rushmoor was not currently a

candidate for Exceptional Financial Support (EFS).

Subsequently, Rushmoor commissioned CIPFA to undertake a review of its financial position

as follows.

* Financial Management and Sustainability: An assessment of Rushmoor’s financial
management and management of risk, financial pressures, deliverability of savings

plans and efficiency in delivering services and potential capital flexibilities. (Section 3)

 Debt/Commercial Assets: An assessment of Rushmoor’s assets and investments

including dependence on commercial income, debt costs and other risks. (Section 4)

+ Capital Programme/Companies: An assessment of Rushmoor’s capital programme
and management of related risks including arrangements with the two Rushmoor

owned companies. (Section 5)

* Governance and Culture: An assessment of Rushmoor’s governance/management
processes, leadership, operational culture, whether it has the appropriate
governance procedures in place, and the capability and capacity to make any

necessary transformation. (Section 6)

* Improvement Proposals and Recommendations: Recommendations to provide
the Council with tangible actions to guide design and implementation of the

necessary actions to address identified risks and issues. (Section 7)

We have undertaken a similar approach to that we have used with DLUHC commissioned
reviews so that, if necessary, this report could be shared with DLUHC. It also benefits from

our work in supporting DLUHC in assessing submissions for EFS.

Please note, our initial draft report was sent to the Council on 22" April 2024 based on our
work undertaken in the period February to April 2024. Consequently, this version may not

reflect decisions or actions taken by the Council since then.

Page7 3



2. Executive Summary

Financial Sustainability
Rushmoor Borough Council (Rushmoor) has identified a significant challenge to its future

financial sustainability as is set out in the General Fund Budget 2024-25 and Medium Term
Financial Strategy 2024-25 to 2027-28 reported to Cabinet and the Council in February
2024. The Council has been able to set a balanced budget in 2024/25 albeit funded through
a significant reduction in reserves. This continues the trend of recent years of the Council
spending more each year than it receives in funding. The Council has recognised that this

is a situation which cannot continue.

The Council’s spending has exceeded income in each of the past three financial years
(2021/22 to 2023/24), adding to a cumulative use of reserves over the past three financial
years to fund this excess of spending over income of £12.605m (taking into account the Q3
2023/24 forecast outturn). This figure is dependent on the final outturn for 2023/24. This is

significant for a Council of Rushmoor’s size and responsibilities.

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), approved by the Council on 22" February
2024 sets out a continuation of this trend with a further £16.598m needed in reserves in the

period 2024/25 to 2027/28 without the Council taking steps to significantly curb spending.

Without reducing annual spending to align with annual income the Council will not be able to
set a balanced budget in 2026/27. Consequently, without mitigation, the Council is not

financially sustainable in the medium-term. This is driven by the Council’s level of debt. This
means the Council has a maximum of two years to make the necessary changes required to
achieve a stable and financially sustainable future, including curbing spending so it is aligned

with funding.

The MTFS does set out a path to financial sustainability. The “Revenue Budget, Capital
Programme and Council Tax Level” report to the Council on 22" February includes in
Appendix 1 the “MTFS — Financial Resilience Plan” and within the report identifies the scale
and focus of the savings target required which amount to a reduction in the base budget of
£4.040m; £2.000m in service cost reductions and £2.040m in Interest and MRP cost
reductions. This would put the Council on a financially sustainable footing.

Whilst 2026/27 may seem some time off, the steps needed to achieve financial sustainability
will take time to implement, especially the £40m disposal of assets needed to achieve the
reduction in interest and MRP costs. In addition, the savings target requires savings to be

made in 2024/25 and in 2025/26 in order to achieve financial sustainability.

Page 8 4



The Council is in a position to avoid any future request for intervention from Government, in
the form of Exceptional Financial Support (EFS) if it acts in a timely manner and makes

some key decisions about its future, in particular in relation to its development programmes.

Securing financial sustainability may entail making difficult decisions that run counter to the
Council’s ambitions and could result in reductions in service and affect the Council’s

regeneration goals.

It is, therefore, important that the Council quickly makes decisions and determines the

actions it is going to take so that they can be implemented in a planned and structured way.
The Council needs to:

» Identify how it will deliver the £40m of capital receipts required, including confirming
land and property assets that it will dispose of, and put in place the necessary
detailed plans to achieve these disposals by the target date of September 2025, with

a focus on those assets that would not have an impact on net revenue income

» Identify how the recurring service cost reductions in 2024/25 of £0.5m are going to be
achieved and develop proposals for additional recurring service cost reductions of

£0.5m in 2025/26 and subsequent years are going to be achieved

» Consider, should the proposed new capital flexibilities come into regulation, what
needs to be done to take advantage of these if the Council so chooses (for example,
through more asset disposals to generate the required capital receipts), noting that
the proposed flexibilities provide an alternative to EFS to capitalise general cost

pressures

Financial Management and the Centrality of Finance
The Council needs to reassert the importance and centrality of finance to the Council,

addressing issues in relation to financial capacity and competencies and the robustness of
financial management. We acknowledge steps have already been taken to start to address
this.

In our analysis we highlight a historic lack of clarity and consistency in reporting. This
suggests a historical lack of financial management capacity and competency which has not
been helped by changes in leadership of the finance function. The current S.151 Officer is
the fourth in recent years following two Interim S.151 Officers. In addition, the Council’s
External Auditors, Ernst & Young, refer to issues of capacity in the finance department in the
context of their work and identify officer capacity as ‘moderate’ in their “Annual Audit Letter
for the year ended 31 March 2020” dated July 2023.

Page9 5



The Financial Resilience Plan identifies a number of actions in relation to building financial
capacity and competency. These align with our conclusions and it is important a plan to

implement these improvements is determined and actioned.

We also suggest improvements, including a focus when setting the budget on the ‘Net
Budget Requirement’. More insightful and transparent, the “Net Budget Requirement”
presentation of the budget, which other Councils adopt, more clearly identifies the level of
spending the Council has agreed to in setting the budget before any budgeted use of

reserves (which is included as a source of funding).

In Rushmoor, the S.151 Officer reports to the Monitoring Officer/Deputy CEO. We
recognise the S.151 officer is a member of the Executive Leadership Team and involved in
all key organisational decision making. However, The imminent “Code of Practice on Good
Governance for Local Authority Statutory Officers” which has been consulted on by LLG,
CIPFA and SOLACE will state “The Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer should
have a clear and direct relationship to the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), normally
through line management or other equivalent arrangement”. This supports CIPFA’s long-
held view that the S.151 officer should be a direct report to the CEO.

The Council needs to implement the improvements in financial management discussed in
this report and included in the Financial Resilience Plan as a matter of urgency given the
importance of good practice financial management in underpinning financial control,
supporting effective decision-making and delivering the planned path to financial

sustainability.

Alignment of the Council Plan with the MTFS
It also has to be considered, in developing the next iteration of the Council Plan whether the

Council’s priorities still align with the Council’s financial situation, especially given the scaling
back of the capital programme and the need to reduce the level of borrowing in order to
achieve the interest and MRP savings through the disposal of assets to generate capital

receipts of £40m.

In our opinion, the Council should also recognise the need to ensure that the next version of
the Council Plan includes, as a core priority, the attainment and maintenance of financial
sustainability, enabling the Council to prioritise more effectively its longer-term strategic aims

for the area and its residents against the financial limitations that it faces.

We would strongly recommend that the Council needs to explicitly prioritise financial
sustainability in the next iteration of the Council Plan and balance its ambitions alongside its

core responsibilities and services.

Page 10 6



Governance Arrangements and Operational Culture
Our impression is that the Council has had a significant focus on major regeneration

projects. This has led to the high levels of debt and the current challenge to financial

sustainability.

In our interviews, participants identified that the Council, has accepted a high level of risk in
order to progress its regeneration ambitions, acting in an “entrepreneurial” manner. This has
contributed to a significant debt position which, alongside the ongoing imbalance between

cost of services and income, is now impacting on the Council’s financial sustainability.

Given the urgency of the situation, the Council needs to assure itself that the governance
and delivery arrangements for the Financial Resilience Plan are supported by clarity of
priorities, focus and direction, which leaves no room for competing agendas or diversion

from the essential decisions and actions the Council needs to take.

Financial Resilience Plan
It is essential that the governance arrangements put in place to implement the Financial

Resilience Plan reflect this need for focus and leadership together with a sense of urgency.
This implies a continued and prioritised focus on completing the activities that are
fundamental to achieving and maintaining financial sustainability with clear accountabilities

and timescales for delivery.

The Financial Resilience Plan includes the key work-steams we would expect to see in such
a plan and that DLUHC would expect to see a local authority act on before considering any
form of Exceptional Financial Support, including spending controls, savings targets, and the
scaling back of the capital programme. However, the February 2024 version of the Financial
Resilience Plan does not include an asset disposal programme as a specific work-stream,
reference is only made to asset disposal in relation to the Commercial Property Review
work-stream when it is clear the Council will have to look more widely across its land and

property portfolio in order to identify the £40m capital receipts required.

The implementation of the Financial Resilience Plan is underway and ideally needs to
accelerate its delivery. This will require clear accountabilities and agreed realistic timescales

for implementation, in particular around the:

» Identification and tracking of the service cost reduction savings target which needs a
permanent removal from the base budget of £0.5m each year for the next four years,
including 2024/25

+ Identification of the £40m asset disposal programme which is the key to achieving

the Interest and MRP cost reduction savings target.

Page 11 7



The planned refresh of the MTFS is an important milestone. It is vital that, once this is
considered, the Council has confidence and visibility of the outcomes, governance and
accountabilities included in the Financial Resilience Plan along with the specific actions and
their associated timescales so that the MTFS can properly reflect the Council’s path to

financial sustainability.

Our recommendation, therefore, is that the Council builds on the work to date and quickly
develops a more detailed delivery plan which sets out clear timescales, actions and
accountabilities setting out:

* The financial outcomes required as adjusted by the outturn, review of reserves and
revised MTFS

* The subsequent actions to be taken and when decision are needed

* Reporting and monitoring arrangements to ensure Financial Resilience Plan is on
target and there is good visibility on progress

The action plan should include detailed plans in relation to:

e Assets to be disposed of (at an individual asset level)

e Service cost reductions

This is fundamental to achieving the Council’s planned journey to a more financially

sustainable future.

The revised MTFS should set out key financial targets and dates to be achieved. A detailed
delivery plan with clear accountabilities will mitigate the risk of not meeting these target

dates, focus minds and provide a clear framework for accountability and implementation.

Page 12 8



3. Financial Management and Sustainability

Introduction
Rushmoor faces a significant challenge to its continued financial sustainability. The Council

has been able to set a balanced budget in 2024/25 albeit funded through a significant
reduction in reserves. This continues the trend of recent years of the Council spending more
each year than it receives in funding. The MTFS identifies that the Council will be unable to
set a balanced budget in 2026/27 since reserves would, by then, be exhausted. The Council
has recognised that this is a situation which cannot continue without significant remedial

action being taken.

A summary of the financial trajectory is set out below. In Appendix A we examine the
financial history of the Council between 2021/22 to 2023/24 based on its reporting. This
highlights in more detail how the current financial challenge developed. Our view is that
there has been a lack of clarity and consistency in reporting which makes it more difficult for
those without significant financial expertise to fully understand the overall financial position at

any specific time.

Financial Trajectory 2021/22 — 2023/24

Summary 2021/22 to 2023/24
In the table below we have summarised and restated the reported 2021/22 and 2022/23

outturn positions together with the latest (Q3) forecast outturn for 2023/24. The purpose of
this restatement is to provide insight into the true level of spending (the Net Budget

Requirement) and use of reserves that has been required to support this level of spending.

2021/22  2022/23 2023/24

Summary 2021/22 to 2023/24 £000s £000s £000s

Net Service Expenditure 9,273 9,738 11,731
Corporate Income & Exenditure 9,583 2,397 5,191
Adjustments 659 2,252 -

Net Revenue Budget Requirement 19,515 14,387 16,922
Funding - 13,448 - 11,605 - 13,166
Deficit Before Use of Reserves 6,067 2,782 3,756

Balance of Earmarked Reserves

Earmarked Reserves Opening Balance 27,985 21,918 19,136
Use of Earmarked Reserves - 6,067 - 2,782 - 3,756
Earmarked Reserves Closing Balance 21,918 19,136 15,380
General Fund Balance 2,000 2,000 2,000
Total Reserves 23,918 21,136 17,380

Page 13 9



To do this the use of reserves to support spending included in the reported ‘Net General
Fund Revenue Budget’ has been added back to identify the Net Budget Requirement and

adjustments have been made in relation to the issues set out in Appendix A.

The above table also reconciles opening and closing balances on Earmarked Reserves. In

addition, the Council maintains a £2.000m General Fund balance (working balance).

It is not clear how the adjustments in the table above should be allocated to either Net
Service Expenditure or to Corporate Income & Expenditure. What is clear, however is that
spending has exceeded income in each of the past three financial years (2021/22 to
2023/24), adding to a cumulative use of reserves over the past three financial years to fund
this excess of spending over income of £12.605m (dependent on the final outturn for

2023/24). This is significant for a Council of Rushmoor’s size and responsibilities.

Revenue Budget 2024/25 and MTFS 2024/25 — 2027/28

Revenue Budget 2024/25
The 2024/25 budget was agreed at a meeting of the Council on 22nd February 2024, having

been considered by the Cabinet on 6th February 2024. Appendix 4 of the report to Council
“‘Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and Council Tax Level” sets out the General Fund
Revenue Budget Summary 2024/25 which was approved by the Council. This approved
2024/25 revenue budget is summarised and restated below to identify the Net Budget
Requirement (i.e. before use of reserves). We also include, for comparison, the 2023/24
Original Budget per Appendix 4 and the 2023/24 Q3 Forecast, which was not reported to the
Cabinet until 12" March 2024.

2023/24 2023/24 | 2024/25 Changevs Change vs.

Original Q3 Approved 2023/24 2023/24Q3

Budget Forecast Budget Budget Forecast

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Net Service Revenue Budget 11,077 11,731 12,434 1,357 703
Corporate Income & Expenditure 2,450 5,191 6,657 4,207 1,466
Net Budget Requirement Before Use of Reserves 13,527 16,922 19,091 5,564 2,169
Funding - 12,403 - 13,166 [- 13,831 - 1,428 - 665
Net Deficit Before Use of Reserves 1,124 3,756 5,260 4,136 1,504
Deficit Funded By:
Use of Earmarked Reserves 1,124 1,578 |- 119 - 1,243 - 1,697
General Fund Deficit - 2,178 5,379 5,379 3,201
Total Call on Reserves 1,124 3,756 5,260 4,136 1,504

This in effect means that the Council agreed to a level of spending of £19.091m in 2024/25,
which is £5.064m more than in the 2023/24 budget and £2.169m more than the level of
spending identified in the Q3 2023/24 forecast.

Page 14 10



Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 — 2027/28

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is included in the above mentioned report and

was approved by the Council on 22" February 2024.

At that time, the forecast use of reserves in 2023/24 identified in the report and in Appendix
4 to the report was £2.500m. The Q3 2023/24 forecast reported to Cabinet on 12" March
2024 revised this upwards by £1.256m as is set out in the table below.

24/25 Q3
2023/24 Outturn Position Per Budget Forecast

£000s £000s
Use of Earmarked Reserves 1,124 1,578
Deficit 1,376 2,178
Total Call on Reserves 2,500 3,756

Forecast
+/-
£000s

454
802
1,256

This impacts on the MTFS. In the table below we restate the MTFS presented to the Council

to take account of this.

2023/24 24/25 25/26
Adjusted MTFS Deficit and Reserve Balance £000s £000s £000s
Defictit Before Use of Reserves 3,756 5,260 4,193
Cumulative Deficit Before Use of Reserves 3,756 9,016 13,209
Estimated Reserve Balance
Opening Balance 13,060 9,304 4,044
Planned Use of Earmaked Reserve - 1,578 119 - 66
General Fund Defcicit - 2,178 - 5,379 - 4,127
Closing Balance 9,304 4,044 - 149

2026/27
£000s
3,504
16,713

149

3,504
3,653

2027/28
£000s
3,641
20,354

- 3,653

- 3,641
- 7,294

The cumulative use of reserves to support spending since 2021/22 and projected to 2027/28

is illustrated below.

Page 1511



35,000

30,000 23,203

25,562
25,000

fm

22,058
20,000
17,865
15,000
12,605
10,000 8,849
6,068,067
5,260
4,193

5,000 3,756 ’ 3,641

I I I 3i4 I

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
Financial Year

This amounts to £29.203m over 7 years, which is the £12.605m identified above in this
report for the period 2021/22 to 2023/24 plus £16.598m forecast as required in the period
2024/25 to 2027/28 if no mitigating action is taken.

The adjustment of £1.256m in respect of 2023/24, based on the Q3 2023/24 forecast, means
that the Council would not be able to set a balanced budget in 2025/26 without utilising the
£2.000m General Fund (working) balance since Earmarked Reserves will not be sufficient to
fund the whole of the projected deficit. In 2026/27 the Council would be unable to set a
balanced budget even if the General Fund (working) balance was applied as without
mitigation the General Fund (working) balance would have reduced to £1.851m and the

forecast deficit at £3.504m results in an unfunded deficit of £1.653m as is illustrated below.

Page 16 12



Adjusted MTFS Deficit and Reserve Balance 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

including General Fund Working Balance £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Defictit Before Use of Reserves 3,756 5,260 4,193 3,504 3,641
Cumulative Deficit Before Use of Reserves 3,756 9,016 13,209 16,713 20,354

Estimated Reserve Balance

Opening Balance including GF Working Balance 15,060 11,304 6,044 1,851 - 1,653
Planned Use of Earmaked Reserve - 1,578 119 - 66 -

General Fund Defcicit - 2,178 - 5,379 - 4,127 - 3,504 - 3,641
Closing Balance 11,304 6,044 1,851 - 1,653 - 5,294

Without mitigation, the Council is not financially sustainable in the medium-term. This is
largely driven by the Council’s level of debt which we discuss in Section 4 below. The
position set out above means the S.151 Officer would be obliged, if there is no change, to
issue a S.114 Notice in respect of the setting of the 2026/27 budget. This means the
Council has a maximum of two years to make the necessary changes to its spending that

would be required to set a balanced budget in 2026/27.

The MTFS does set out a path to financial sustainability. The “Revenue Budget, Capital
Programme and Council Tax Level” report to the Council on 22" February includes in
Appendix 1 the “MTFS — Financial Resilience Plan” and within the report identifies the scale

and focus of the savings target required.

The report to Council on 22nd February 2024 states “There are two significant levers within
the Council’s control to resolve the deficit. The most controllable lever is the Council’s cost
base, the second lever is the reduction of interest and MRP through reduction in debt (i.e., a
capital solution), however disposal of assets to generate capital receipts is a medium-term

action as this takes time to achieve”.
These savings targets in relation to these two levers are set out in the table below.

2024/25 2025/26  2026/27  2027/28

MTFS Savings Target £000s £000s £000s £000s

Services Cost Reduction 500 1,000 1,500 2,000
Interest and MRP Reduction 240 1,558 2,040 2,040
Total Recurrent Savings 740 2,558 3,540 4,040
Defictit Before Use of Reserves 5,260 4,193 3,504 3,641
Less Savings Target - 740 - 2,558 - 3,540 - 4,040
Revised Deficit Before Use of Reserves 4,520 1,635 - 36 - 399
Cumulative Deficit Before Use of Reserves 4,520 6,155 6,119 5,720

Page 1713



This target is for a permanent reduction in the base budget of £4.040m by 2027/28
comprising of £2.000m in service cost reductions and of a reduction of £2.040m in the cost
of MRP and interest.

The impact of achieving this level of savings on reserves, taking into account the Q3

2023/24 forecast outturn and the General Fund (working) balance) is set out in the table

below.

Estimated Reserve Balance If 2024/25 2025/26  2026/27 2027/28
Savings Target Achieved £000s £000s £000s £000s
Opening Balance including GF Working Balance 11,304 6,784 5,149 5,185
Planned Use of Earmaked Reserve 119 - 66 -
General Fund Deficit - 4,639 - 1,569 36 399
Closing Balance 6,784 5,149 5,185 5,584

This is clearly a significantly improved position. The cumulative impact of recurring savings
from 2024/25 to 2027/28 would move the Council from a negative reserves balance of

£5.294m to a positive reserves balance of £5.584m, a change of £10.878.

The achievement of the savings target would put the Council on a financially sustainable
footing, maintaining the overall level of reserves, including the General Fund (working)
balance, in excess of £5.000m throughout the current MTFS period and avoid an unfunded
deficit in 2026/27 and 2027/28.

This is a challenging savings target. The table below summarises the MTFS from 2024/25
to 2026/27 set out in “Appendix 2: Detailed MTFS 2024/25 — 2027/28” included in the report
to Council on 22" February 2024 (Note, 2027/28 was not included in the table).

This is prior to the savings target and disaggregates the revenue impact of projects relating
to capital expenditure/borrowing on the General Fund, providing a measure of the scale of
savings (against spend) to be achieved to attain the degree of financial sustainability sought

through the savings target.

Page 18 14



2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Disaggregation of MTFS 2024/25 to 2025/27 £000s £000s £000s

Net Service Revenue Expenditure 20,428 21,235 22,254
Investment Properties - 1,616 - 2,961 - 3,607
The Meads 427 274 199
Union Yard 1,022 816 459
RHL - 241 - 515 - 498
Crematorium - 14 - 596 - 628
Civic Quarter 369 275 222
Other Operating Assets 1,066 862 763
Projects (related to CapEx/Borowing) 1,013 - 1,845 - 3,090
Interest Receivable from Treasury Investment - 2,350 - 2,130 - 1,640
Net Budget Requirement 19,091 17,260 17,524
Funding - 13,831 - 13,067 - 14,020
Net Deficit Before Use of Reserves 5,260 4,193 3,504

The cumulative annual savings target for service cost reduction to 2026/27 of £1.500m is
6.74% of .Net Service Revenue expenditure in the table above. This follows a series of

savings that the Council has already implemented in recent years.

The report to Council on 22" February 2024 states that Members should expect to receive

proposals that manage the budget shortfall that:

a) Recognise the Council may no longer be able to afford to deliver the current range of

services or maintain some services at existing levels
b) Prioritise services that deliver statutory obligations as a borough council”

For Interest and MRP cost reduction the cumulative annual savings target to 2026/27 is
£2.040m. Projects and assets (related to CapEx/Borrowing) which attract MRP and interest
do, overall, have a beneficial impact on the General Fund in 2025/26 and 2026/27 and over
the three years from 2024/25 have a beneficial impact of £3.922m.

However, as can be seen in the table above, the beneficial impact is limited to certain
projects and assets, namely Investment Properties, RHL and the Crematorium. Over the
three years from 2024/25 these contribute £10.676m to the General Fund. In contrast, the
Meads, Union Yard, the Civic Quarter and Other Operating Assets are currently a cost to the
General Fund of £6.754m.

Page 1915



The report to Council on 22nd February states “The capital solution requires £40million
reduction in borrowing (i.e., the Capital Financing Requirement) through the generation of

capital receipts (or other external funding) by September 2025”.

Naturally, the MTFS is based on a number of assumptions. Key assumptions relate to falls
in interest rates and inflation which are outside the control of the Council. The report to

Council on 22™ February 2024 identifies the risk associated with these assumptions.

This places even greater emphasis on making the decisions over which it does have control.

As the report to Council on 22nd February identifies, the timing of savings delivery is critical.

Reserves Position
We have reviewed the overall reserves position above in discussing the MTFS, taking into

account the Q3 2023/24 forecast outturn. The opening balance for 2023/24 of £13.060m

reconciles to the closing balance in the draft Statement of Accounts 2022/23 of £19.136m.

This is set out in Appendix 5 of the “Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and Council Tax

Level” report to Council on 22" February 2024.

Reserves: as at 31/3/2023
Earmarked reserves (10,807,303)
Risk reserves (2,252,797)
Total Earmarked Reserves (13,060,100)
SANG/Developers Reserves Sub Total (6,076,128)
Total Reserves: (19,136,228)

The opening balance of £13.060m excludes SANG/Developers Reserves and the General
Fund (working) balance of £2.000m. There is no breakdown provided of estimated balances
of individual Earmarked Reserves as at 31 March 2024. However, these are identified as
at 31 March 2023 in the draft Statement of Accounts 2023/24.

The report to Council on 22nd February 2024 states “A comprehensive reserves review will
be completed as part of the 2023-24 outturn. Reserves will be aligned to the updated
Financial Resilience plan, with reserve transfer proposals put forward to Full Council in July
2024”. We have highlighted a number of issues in this report that might impact on the

reserves position.

The report to the Council on 22nd February 2024 also refers to this in the section on Risks
and Uncertainties, stating that the “audit backlog to 2020-21 carries risk around impact on
available reserves”. It is important, as part of the planned comprehensive reserves review,

that assurance is gained on the level of reserves available to the Council.

Page 20 16



The S.151 Officer's Section 25 Statement in the budget report to Council on 22" February,
in relation to the adequacy of reserves, identifies a significant repurposing of Earmarked
Reserves is required in relation to 2023/24 to fund the forecast deficit (which increased in the
subsequent Q3 2023/24 forecast).

It also states, “the Council has sufficient reserves to set a legal budget for 2024/25, and
potentially 2025/26”. This accords with our analysis, taking into account the Q3 2023/24
forecast of an increase in the 2023/24 deficit. However, as stated above and indicated in the
budget report, there are insufficient reserves, including the General Fund (working) balance

to set a balanced budget in 2026/27 without significant mitigation.

As is referred to above, there is a need for repurposing of Earmarked Reserves and a
comprehensive reserves review is to be completed by July 2024 as part of the plan to attain

financial sustainability.

A local authority relies on its financial reserves to provide funding for investment in future
activities and to act as a safety net in case of short-term financial challenges. It is important
to note that Earmarked Reserves are set aside for specific purposes and cannot necessarily
be repurposed to bridge budget gaps unless the intended use of such reserves is no longer
applicable. Itis important this is taken into account, as part of the comprehensive reserves

review, and that necessary decisions are sought in relation to such repurposing.

It is also important that there is appropriate governance and transparency in relation to the
use and drawdown of specific Earmarked Reserves, which has not been the case

historically.

CIPFA guidance states that using reserves to fund otherwise unsustainable services or to
defer the need to make difficult decisions about service delivery should be avoided. Such an
approach does nothing to enhance financial resilience. It also serves to make those difficult

decisions even more difficult when they inevitably have to be made in the future.

Financial Management, Risk Management and Compliance

Financial Management
CIPFA has not undertaken a formal assessment of financial management at Rushmoor

through, for example, CIPFA’'s FM Model or indeed, the requirement to undertake an

assessment against the financial management code.

We have identified a number of historical issues in relation to financial reporting to Members
in our analysis of the Council’s financial position as it has evolved to the present day. This

includes:

Page 2117



« Conflicting information on the 2022/23 outturn being provided to Members in July
2023

+ Lack of Q2 and Q3 forecast outturn reporting to Members in 2022/23

» Presentation of budget/forecast information that does not clearly identify the Net
Budget Requirement (the amount the Council plans to spend or is spending

compared to funding (including the use of reserves)

* The recasting and presentation of the budget in a way which does not enable

visibility of increases in the Net Budget Requirement

This suggests a historical lack of financial management capacity and competency which has
not been helped by changes in leadership of the finance function, the current S.151 Officer is

the fourth in recent years following two Interim S.151 Officers.

The Council’s External Auditors, Ernst & Young, refer to issues of capacity in the finance
department in the context of their work and identify officer capacity as ‘moderate’ in their
“Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2020” dated July 2023.

Given the financial position of the Council, we question whether quarterly forecasting is
frequent enough. There is a lack of “in-flight” information during the course of the financial
year which would provide the opportunity to take decisions to mitigate an adverse position,

especially when the timing of current quarterly forecasts is taken into account.

The Q2 forecast went to Cabinet in January 2024 and Cabinet did not see the Q3 forecast
until March 2024, after the 2024/25 budget had been approved and close to the 2023/24
year-end. Whilst an earlier indication of direction of travel might be possible under the
current arrangements, more frequent (monthly) forecasting would provide a more robust
foundation for financial management especially given the challenge to financial sustainability
Rushmoor is facing. However, we do recognise this might be testing in the context of the

current financial management capacity of the Council.

It is our observation that many reports that go to Members do not, as a matter of course,
include a separate section on financial implications prepared by or on behalf of the S.151
officer but do contain sections on risk and on legal implications, even where there are
significant financial repercussions. This runs the risk of Members taking decisions for which
the financial implications have not been properly considered by the S.151 officer or a

representative of the S.151 officer.

This may be a symptom of historical financial management capacity but, in our opinion, is a

significant omission, especially given the Council’s current financial position. We would

Page 22 18



expect all reports to Members to include a section on financial implications approved by the

S.151 Officer even if this is to confirm there are none.

Achieving financial sustainability will depend on the Council achieving the challenging
savings target discussed above. It is vitally important that these form a robust programme
which is closely monitored in a visible/transparent way especially given the critical nature of
their timing. Finance has a core role to play in validating and tracking the savings that have

been achieved against this target.

We are aware that the current S.151 Officer is cognisant of the shortcomings in financial
capacity and is taking steps to address them. This has included the recent appointment of
the Financial Services Manager & Deputy S151 Officer. It is essential that the Council is
supportive of all necessary steps needed to achieve a sufficient level of financial capacity

and competency under the direction of the S.151 Officer.

Risk Management
Ernst & Young do draw attention to issues in relation to risk management in their “Annual

Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2020” dated July 2023 stating “Adequate risk
management is required for members and officers to take informed decisions” determining
“The Council's Risk Management arrangements are adequate” before making a number of

suggested improvements.

In February 2022 an Internal Audit Report in relation to Corporate Risk Management
concluded that arrangements were ‘reasonable’ which meant improvements were required.
The Internal Audit Report contained six recommendations of which five have been

implemented.

The “Risk Management Process 2023/24” report to the Corporate Governance, Audit and
Standards Committee on 24th March 2024 reports on the ongoing development and
maintenance of the Council’s risk management process and includes as Appendix A the

current Corporate Risk Management Policy (v2.0 27/04/22).

The report of 24th March states “Work has continued in response to the internal audit of risk
management that concluded in February 2022. Of the 6 actions identified, the final
outstanding item has been addressed in the latest draft of the risk management policy”. This
is, in our opinion, slightly misleading since whilst there is now a section on ‘risk appetite’ in
the policy, as the report states “Further work is however planned to investigate how the
Council can establish an effective high level risk appetite policy (or policies)’. The
Management Action Plan appended to the Internal Audit Report in February 2022 set a

target date of 30th June 2022 to “to define and communicate the Corporate Risk Appetite”.

Page 2319



The latest “Council Plan and Risk Register Quarterly Update” report to Cabinet was made on
6" February 2024. This identifies a number of key corporate risks which we have

summarised below.

Risk Rating
Key Corporate Risk Inherent Residual Target
Leisure and Cultural Hub Medium
Civic Quarter Medium
Union Street

Insufficient Funding to Proceed with Projects Medium
External Debt Medium
Financial Sustainability Medium Medium Medium

These risks are clearly interrelated and to some extent conflict in their mitigation. For
example, as has been set out above, the achievement of the Interest and MRP savings
target depends on reducing the level of borrowing. Whilst this reduces risks associated with
external debt and financial sustainability it does, without an alternative source of funding,
adversely impact on the sufficiency of funding for projects and, therefore, the Council’s ability
to deliver the major projects set out in the table above, namely the Leisure and Cultural Hub,

the Civic Quarter and Union Street.

Compliance with Local Government Accounting Codes and International Financial
Reporting Standards
As set out in the draft Statement of Accounts 2022/23, the financial statements are prepared

and published in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023. The Code is issued by
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The Code is based on
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adapted for the UK public sector
under the oversight of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.

However, the last audited Statement of Accounts relates to 2019/20. Whilst draft Statement
of Accounts for 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23 have been published these are yet to be
audited. Rushmoor has, thus, commenced the new financial year with four years of
accounts remaining to be audited. Rushmoor is not alone in having a backlog. The
Government is currently consulting on a statutory backstop date of 30" September 2024 for

the completion of all outstanding audits up to and including 2022/23.

Capital Flexibilities
On 19th December 2023, DLUHC opened a consultation on capital measures to improve

local government sector stability and efficiency. Any resulting changes will be available to all

local authorities so are separate from and do not replace the EFS process, which is focused

Page 24 20



on supporting local failure. The consultation does, however, recognise “where local
authorities face cost pressures that are not a consequence of local failure, then further
freedoms to use capital resources could allow local management of budget pressures, and
facilitate investment that reduces future costs and supports continued sustainability over the

long-term”.
The specific options identified in the consultation paper are:

» Option 1: Extend capitalisation flexibilities to include a wider set of eligible costs —
allowing local authorities to capitalise general cost pressures and meet these with

capital receipts

» Option 2: Extend the flexible use of capital receipts to allow authorities to borrow for
the revenue costs of invest-to-save projects, thus allowing local authorities to borrow

to finance the revenue costs of eligible projects in addition to using capital receipts

« Option 3: Allow additional flexibilities for the use of the proceeds of selling investment
assets — allowing local authorities to use investment asset proceeds to fund financial
pressures and potentially having access to other flexibilities such as increasing

reserves where they are demonstrably low

Option 1 is significant since at present EFS is the only way for local authorities to capitalise
general cost pressures. It would be conditional on putting in place and committing to
delivering an efficiency plan to reduce costs, with a defined payback period on any
capitalised spend. The intent is that any use of the flexibility must be part of an overall plan
to move back to financial sustainability within the MTFS term. It would also depend on the

availability of capital receipts.

The intent of Option 3 is to encourage divestment of assets held only for revenue and not for
the delivering the objectives of the local authority and to provide additional incentives to
recognise that local authorities selling such assets will likely be foregoing future revenue

income.

If these flexibilities come into regulation, they do present important opportunities for the
Council to manage the financial challenge it is facing and in achieving a stable and

financially sustainable future.

However, the ability to make use of these flexibilities will be dependent on the Council
having access (in relation to options 1 and 3) to sufficient capital receipts, placing even
greater emphasis on the importance of the Council in achieving its asset disposal plans and,

since currently this is focused on reducing borrowing, considering a more extensive

Page 2521



programme of asset disposal to take advantage of these flexibilities if they come into

regulation.

Conclusion
Whilst Rushmoor has been able to set a balanced budget in 2024/25 this is reliant on a

further reduction in reserves. Without reducing annual spending to align with annual income,

the Council will not be able to set a balanced budget in 2026/27.

A savings target combining service cost reductions and reductions in interest and MRP

costs has been identified which would put the Council on a financially sustainable footing.

Whilst 2026/27 may seem some time off, the steps needed to achieve financial sustainability
will take time to implement, especially the £40m disposal of assets needed to achieve the
reduction in interest and MRP costs. In addition, the savings target requires savings to be

made in 2024/25 and in 2025/26 in order to achieve financial sustainability.

The Council is in a position to avoid any future request for intervention from Government, in
the form of Exceptional Financial Support (EFS) if it acts in a timely manner and makes

some key decisions about its future, in particular in relation to its development programmes.

There is a great deal of energy being put into identifying the detail of the actions the Council
needs to make and a Financial Resilience Plan has been developed. Securing financial
sustainability may entail making some politically unattractive decisions that run counter to
the Council’s ambitions, resulting in reductions in service and affecting the Council’s

regeneration goals.

It is important that the Council quickly makes decisions and determines the actions it is going

to take so that they can be implemented in a planned and structured way.

In so doing, the Council needs to address issues in relation to financial capacity and
competencies, which we acknowledge steps have already been taken to address. The

Financial Resilience Plan identifies a number of actions in relation to finance including:
» Revision of a regular timetable for financial reporting and budget setting and review
* Review of treasury operations
* Review of capital planning methodology
* Maintenance and improvement of suitable expenditure controls into the medium term

+ Management of the Council’s balance sheet

Page 26 22



* Improvements in the quality of working papers, documents, and reconciliations

through establishment of new standards for these materials
* Development of financial skills within the Council
» Design and consultation on the structure of the finance service at a suitable juncture

These align with our conclusions and it is important a plan to implement these improvements

is determined and actioned in the short-term.

Good practice in financial management is fundamental to and underpins the delivery of

organisational priorities and objectives. It is key to:
» Providing control, probity and accountability
« Enhancing and improving performance
* Supporting better decision-making
* Managing risk
» Enabling change
» Achieving value for money

These are organisation-wide responsibilities, they are not solely the responsibility of Finance
but are supported by Finance. Without the actions identified in the Financial Resilience Plan
being delivered, the ability of the Council to secure sound financial management and

achieve a financially sustainable future is at risk.

Page 2723



4. Debt and Commercial Assets

Debt

Scale of Indebtedness
For its size. Rushmoor has one of the highest levels of debt of any local authority in England.

In September 2023 Moody’s identified the 20 most indebted local authorities in England
relative to size. Rushmoor ranked 7™ as is shown in the table below?.
Top 20 English councils with high levels of debt for their size

Local authorities ranked by borrowing level versus their income

Borrowing to Borrowing to
Local authority  Total borrowing income ratio Local authority Total borrowing income ratio
1. Spelthorne £11bn 86.9x 1. Brentwood £226m 9.7x
2. Waking £2.0bn 62.0 12. Mole Valley £103m 9.6
3. Eastleigh £522m 111 13. East Hampshire £120m 95
4. Runnymede £643m 234 14. Thurrock £1.5bn 7.5
5. Worthing £204m 14.4 15. Adur £165m 71
6. Surrey Heath £170m 13.7 16. Epsom and Ewell £64m 6.8
7. Rushmoor £120m 10.6 17. Broxbourne £58m 6.3
8. Cherwell £188m 103 18. Guildford £295m 6.0
9. Uttlesford £302m 10.0 19. Chorley £78m L9
10.Warrington £1.8bn 99 20. Warwick £268m 59

Guardian graphic. Source: Moody's investors service

The level of external debt as at 31 March 2023 was £120m. The Treasury Management
and Non-Treasury Investments Operations 2023/24” report to the Corporate Governance,
Standards and Audit Committee on 27" November 2023 forecast that external debt would
rise to £167m by 315 March 2024 as is set out in the table below.

1 Due to concerns about the financial information identified earlier in the report we have not been able to use the comparative
CIPFA data in our report including the Financial Resilience Index.

Page 28 24



External Borrowing Summary

1/4/2023 balance - started before this date 120,000,000
Of which repaid pre November 115,000,000
Replaced borrowing in year to date 153,000,000
Of which matured (16,000,000)
Balance to date 142,000,000
Borrowing contracted in last Quarter 25,000,000
Repaid in last Quarter (13,000,000)
Required borrowing in last Quarter 13,000,000
Total debt at 31/3/2024 167,000,000

The 2023-24 budget assumed £165m of borrowing. The budget’s interest assumption was
based on short-term borrowing of £45m (27.3%) at 0.75% and £120m (72.7%) of long-term
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing at 2%.

At 31° March 2023 long-term loans represented £5m (4.16%) of the £120m external debt. In
September 2023, the Council was advised by Arlingclose to transfer 60% of its short-term
debt to longer-term PWLB loans. However, this was considered unaffordable. The planned
switch to long-term borrowing in the 2023-24 budget did not materialise despite an apparent

commitment and understanding across the Council at the time.

The “Annual Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Non-Treasury Investment Strategy
2024/25" approved by the Council on 22" February 2024 sets out the Council’s annual
borrowing strategy. This identifies that the majority of current debt is due to mature within 12
months and that the Council will need to borrow £135.4m by the end of 2024/25 to replace

existing short-term loans as they mature.

The chief objective of the annual borrowing strategy is “to strike an appropriately low risk
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for
which funds are required”. It also identifies as a secondary objective the flexibility to

renegotiate loans should the Council’s long-term plans change.

The annual borrowing strategy retains the desire to switch to a greater proportion of long-
term debt to enable greater in the cost of borrowing. However, this process will not begin

until expected falls in current interest rates.

Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary
The Council is legally obliged to set an Authorised Limit (or affordable borrowing limit) for

external debt each year. The Authorised Limit is a prudential indicator which controls the

overall level of borrowing and is the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited. In line with

Page 2925



statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt

approach the limit.

The “Annual Capital Strategy 2024/25” approved by the Council on 22nd February 2024
identifies the Authorised Limit of £202m in 2023/24 remaining constant through to 2026/27.
Similarly, the Operational Boundary identified of £171.8m in 2024/25 remains constant
through to 2026/27.

Debt of £167m as at 31 March 2024 is approaching the Operational Boundary though
securely within the Authorised Limit. Given the Council is seeking to reduce the level of
debt and both the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary are constant through to
2026/27, the extent to which debt is less than these indicators should increase over the
period to 2026/27.

Capital Financing Requirement
The purpose of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is to demonstrate that Council

borrowing is undertaken to fund capital expenditure only. The “Annual Capital Strategy
2024/25” provides the following description “The Council’'s cumulative outstanding amount of
debt finance is measured by the capital financing requirement (CFR). This increases with
new debt-financed capital expenditure and reduces with MRP and capital receipts used to

replace debt”.

In the “Annual Capital Strategy 2024/25” the Council’s estimated CFR in 2024/25 is
£167.9m, reducing to £129.1m in 2026/27. As the Council is projecting reducing levels of
debt over this period, the Council is expecting to comply with the recommendation in
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities that total debt is lower than
the highest forecast CFR in the period 2024/25 to 2026/27.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
Historically, the Council has charged MRP on a straight-line basis, where equal annual

charges for MRP are made over the asset life. Following a review of MRP by Arlingclose,
the Councils Treasury Management advisers, the Council has changed to the annuity basis
from 2024/25 onwards. This results in a reduction in MRP in earlier years but sees the MRP

charge increase each year over the asset.

This change in approach is set out in Appendix 3 - Minimum Revenue Provision Statement
2024/25 to the “Annual Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Non-Treasury
Investment Strategy 2024/25” approved by the Council on 22" February 2024. A detailed
review of the Council’s MRP calculation is outside the scope of this review. However, we
are able to comment that the approach adopted by the Council is compliant with regulations

and guidance and is an approach that is widely adopted.

Page 30 26



Interest and MRP Costs
Interest and MRP costs are a function of the scale of borrowing, interest rates and the

Council’'s MRP policy. Interest costs together with the borrowing and interest rate
assumptions included in the MTFS approved by the Council on 22" February 2024 are set

out in the table below.

2024-25 2025-26 2026-27

) Draft Budget Draft Budget Draft Budget
Interest on External Borrowing B B B
1. Investment Properties 1,562 3,391 4,371 3,229 2,591
2. The Meads 363 789 502 371 298
3. Union Yard 669 1,452 1,552 1,168 937
4. RHL Ltd 15 33 855 631 507
5. Crematorium 6 14 239 187 150
6. Civic Quarter 128 278 363 268 215
7. Other Operational Assets 258 560 793 591 479
Total interest on external borrowing 3,002 6,516 8,675 6,446 5,117
Weighted average interest rate 1.67% 3.90% 5.17% 3.86% 3.10%
Short term borrowing 45,000 167,000 167,000 167,000 167,000
Long Term borrowing 120,000 . . - -
Total external borrowing 165,000 167,000 167,000 167,000 167,000
Internal borrowing - 7,746 15,409 16,474 16474
Total borrowing 165,000 174,746 182,409 183,474 183,474

The MTFS assumes total external borrowing of £167m in the period 2024/25 to 2026/27. A
key assumption is a fall in the weighted average interest rate from 5.17% in 2024/25 to 3.1%
in 2026/27. This results in total interest on external borrowing of £8.675m in 2024/25 falling
to £5.117m in 2026/27. Whilst not included in the table above, the MTFS indicates that total

interest on external borrowing will remain at £5.117m in 2027/28.

Page 3127



The table below provides a breakdown of MRP included in the MTFS approved by the
Council on 22" February 2024.

| Minimum Revenue provision I

Minimum Revenue Expenditure 2023-24 2024-25  2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
funded by Original Budget Draft Budget Projected Projected Projected
Provision by Scheme  borrowing £'000 £'000 £'000 £000  £000  £'000
1. Investment Properties 91,908 1,911 1,299 1,101 1,093 1,113
2. The Meads 10,561 0 142 120 119 121
3. Union Yard 33,246 0 0 380 377 384
4. RHL Ltd 17,970 25 19 211 209 213
5. Crematorium 5,324 12 18 98 103 105
6. Civic Quarter 7,637 68 6 7 7 7
7. Operational Assets 16,827 154 273 271 284 289
Grand Total 183,474 2,170 1,758 2,186 2,192 2,232
Year on year chang in MRP (412) 428 6 40
Funded by:
External borrowing 167,000
Internal Borrowing 16,474
Total borrowing 183,474

The £0.428m increase in 2025-26 is the effect of Union Yard becoming operational in 2024-
25 since MRP is chargeable in the next financial year. This increase is split between Union
Yard and RHL, reflecting the proposed transfer of the private rented units from Union Yard to
RHL.

DLUHC set an indicative minimum percentage of MRP as a proportion of CFR of 2%. The
table below compares the MRP included in the MTFS included in the table above with the
estimated CFR identified in the Capital Strategy 2024/25 for the period 2024/25 to 2026/27.

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

| MRP as % of CFR £000s £000s £000s
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 1,758 2,186 2,192
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 167,900 141,400 129,100
MRP as % of CFR 1.05% 1.55% 1.70%

As can be seen in the table above, the Council is below this indicative minimum though it
does get closer to it by 2026/27.

The combined impact on the General Fund (interest on external borrowing plus MRP) over

the period of the MTFS is set out in the table below.

Page 32 28



2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

Debt Servicing Costs 2024/25 to 2027/28 £000s £000s £000s £000s

Interest on External Borrowing 8,675 6,446 5,117 5,117
MRP 1,757 2,186 2,192 2,232
Total GF Debt Servicing Costs 10,432 8,632 7,309 7,349

Based on the MTFS assumptions total debt servicing costs do reduce though, of course, this
depends on assumed falls in interest rates materialising. The table above does not take
account of the Interest and MRP savings target discussed in Section 3 which is dependent

on a reduction in borrowing of £40m. The impact of this target is set out in the table below.

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

Impact of Savings Target on Debt Servicing Costs £000s £000s £000s £000s

Total GF Debt Servicing Costs 10,432 8,632 7,309 7,349
Interest and MRP Savings Target - 240 - 1,558 - 2,040 - 2,040
Total GF Debt Servicing Costs After Savings 10,192 7,074 5,269 5,309

Treasury Management Investment
The “Annual Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Non-Treasury Investment Strategy

2024/25” approved by the Council on 22nd February 2024 sets out the Council’s Annual

Treasury Management Investment Strategy.

This states “The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity
over yield, that is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns”. It goes on to

further describe the strategy in the following way:

+ Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with
the government, other local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise

the risk of loss.

* Money that will be held for longer terms is invested more widely, including in bonds,
shares and property, to balance the risk of loss against the risk of receiving returns

below inflation.

» Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an
external fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and

the Council may request its money back at short notice

The strategy also identifies that the Council will give due consideration to the potential sale
of strategic pooled funds as part of an ongoing review of their risk and return to the Council.
A sale at the present time is not considered a suitable option due to the current economic

climate which would result in realising a loss in these investments.

Page 3329



As at 31° December the Council held the following treasury management investments:

Portfolio £m Average Rate
Treasury investments:
Local authorities 247 5.30%
Money market funds 15.0 5.75%
Strategic pooled funds 19.3 7.13%
Total treasury investments 39.7 6.02%

The Council expects to hold a minimum of £25m in such investments in future years.

The MTFS identifies interest receivable from treasury investments as is set out in the table

below.

Interest Receivable from Treasury Original 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27
Investment: Budget Draft Budget Draft Budget Draft Budget
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Money Market Funds (31) (820) (600) (400)
Pooled Funds (1,279) (1,240) (1,240) (1,240)
Farnborough International Loan (290) (290) (290) 0
(1,600) (2,350) (2,130) (1,640)

The loan to Farnborough International is due to be fully repaid in 2025-26.

In addition to the above, the MTFS also takes account of interest receivable from RHL as is

set out below.

Original 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

RHL Interest Budget Draft Budget Draft Budget Draft Budget Draft Budget
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Interest on loan notes (56) (968) (1,220) (1,085) (1,085)
Interest on borrowing (64) (78) (67) (59) (59)
Total Interest: (120) (1,045) (1,287) (1,144) (1,144)
Loans notes 780 17,780 17,780 17,780 17,780
Borrowing 970 970 970 970 970
Interest rate (TM+3%) 6.10% 7.22% 7.99% 6.86% 6.10%

The above assumes that 82 private rental units in the Council’s Union Yard development will

transfer to RHL during 2024/25.

Page 34

30




Commercial Property Investments
The Council has investments in local and regional commercial and residential property with

the intention of making a profit that will be spent on local public services. The Council does
not have any intention to add to their current portfolio of investment properties since this
would impact on access to PWLB loans as a consequence of revised lending terms
introduced in 2020.

These investment properties do attract interest and MRP costs, as is set out above in the
data relating to these costs in the MTFS. However, as is set out in Section 3 above, the
investment property portfolio does make a positive contribution to the General Fund after
taking account of these costs. The “Annual Capital Strategy 2024/25” states “Total
commercial investments for 2024/25 are forecast to be £128.7m, the portfolio providing a net

return after all costs of 6.8%".

There is a quarterly review of the portfolio, produced by LSHIM, the Council’s commercial
property advisers. This is reviewed by a Cabinet working group consisting of Members (from
both the Cabinet and the opposition), The CEO, Directors (including the Monitoring Officer)
and the S151 officer. To support the Financial Resilience Plan, LSHIM undertook a
Commercial Portfolio Asset Review in February 2024, with a view to identifying the potential
disposal of any assets to contribute to the reduction in debt the Council seeks to achieve

financial sustainability.

The Council is aware that in undertaking any disposals the overall impact on the General
Fund must be taken into account but that rationalisation of the portfolio where individual
investment properties do not make a positive contribution to the General Fund may still be

appropriate in line with the Council’s agreed approach to portfolio management.

Asset Disposal Plan

The reduction in borrowing of £40m to achieve the savings target on Interest and MRP costs
is dependent on the sale of assets. Whilst this need is recognised in the MTFS approved by
the Council on 22" February 2024, the Council has not yet confirmed which assets it will
dispose of to achieve the savings. As the MTFS also identifies, the timing of disposals is

critical, the target date for completing the required asset disposals being September 2025.

In considering which assets to dispose of the Council will wish to consider the overall impact
on the General Fund, disposing of assets that are projected to be a net cost to the Council

and retaining assets that are projected to benefit the General Fund.

It is important to note, in addition, that should the proposed new capital flexibilities come into

regulation, taking advantage of these flexibilities will be dependent on the generation of

Page 3531



capital receipts through asset disposal. This may mean the Council needs to consider a

more extensive disposal programme.

Conclusion
Whilst borrowing is within the Authorised Limit and borrowing will not exceed CFR, securing

the future sustainability of Rushmoor requires a structured and timely disposal of assets to
achieve the Interest and MRP savings target, reducing the interest and MRP costs borne by

the General Fund.

The implication of this is that the primary focus should be on assets held in relation to the
regeneration projects rather than on the Commercial Property Investments portfolio except
where the disposal of individual investment properties does not negatively impact the

General Fund.

The timing of disposals and the generation of capital receipts has been identified by the
Council as critical, with a target date of £40m of disposals by September 2025. It is vital that
the Council identifies its programme of disposals as quickly as possible so that a planned

disposal process that realises the value of the assets to be disposed of can be implemented.

It is also vital that Rushmoor has access to the necessary capacity and experience to
successfully implement the asset disposal programme. It is unlikely the Council possess all

the experience it needs in-house given it has not pursued such an initiative in the past.

Quite apart from the skills needed in respect of the asset disposal programme, the Council
also needs to consider whether the Council possesses the necessary Treasury Management
expertise commensurate with its needs and, given current capacity was described to us as

weak, consider how capacity in this important, specialist area can be improved.

If the Council fails to quickly finalise the assets it plans to dispose of and commence the
relevant processes, the achievement of its plans to secure a financially stable future will be

put at serious risk.

Page 36 32



5. Capital Programme and Companies

Capital Programme

Scale of the Capital Programme
The “Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and Council Tax Level” approved by the Council

on 22nd February 2024 sets out the Council’s capital programme. The report states “The
capital programme is focussed on delivering against the Council’s key priority of Town
Centre Regeneration, with further schemes focused on enhancing the delivery of core
services through improvement and enhancement of assets. The programme also includes
support for the provision of local housing and the Council’s statutory duties in respect of

Disabled Facilities Grants”.

The capital programme approved by the Council on 22" February 2024 is set out below.

2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
Draft Projected Projected Projected

Capita | Programme Budget £'000 £'000 £'000

£'000
Capital Expenditure
Union Yard 16,966 5,384 603 - -
The Meads 10,456 - - - -
The Galleries 3,400 - - - -
Temporary Housing 2,883 - - - -
Disabled Facilities Grants 1,868 1,632 1,111 1,111 1,111
Civic Quarter 1,550 - - - -
Asset Management R & M 849 671 50 50 -
Section 106 funded projects 827 " 658 - - -
Crematorium 446 4,418 305 - -
CCTV 300 - - - -
Redan Rd 289 - - - -
ICT Services system upgrades 252 582 - - -
Housing PRS Delivery via RHL 169 - - - -
Refuse Bins 127 127 127 127 -
Total Capital Expenditure 40,383 13,473 2,196 1,288 1,111

The forecast for 2023/24 is based the revised capital programme for 2023/24 and reflects

the estimated outturn on all projects.

Page 3733



Proposed funding of the capital programme is set out in the table below.

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26  2026-27  2027-28

Cavital Fi . Forecast Draft Projected Projected Projected
Aplell el £'000 Budget £'000 £'000 £'000
£'000
Developer contribution to Wheeled bins (20) (20) (20) - -
Homes Infrastructure Funding (5,012) - - - -
5106 funding (713)" (658) - - -
LAHF Funding + Ukraine +$106 Commuted (2,883) - - - -
LTA Grant (114) - - - -
Leveling Up Funding (1,240) - - - -
Disabled Facilities Grants (1,868) (1,632)  (1,111) (1,111) (1,111)
Borrowing (28,532) (8,663)  (1,085) (177) -
Capital receipts - Vivid Union Yard - (2,500) - - -
Total Financing (40,383)  (13,473) (2,196)  (1,288)  (1,111)

As can be seen, the scale of the currently approved capital programme tails off dramatically
reflecting the Council’s understanding of its current financial position, falling from a forecast
outturn in 2023/24 of £40.383m to only £1.111m in 2027/28, by which time it is restricted to
Disabled Facilities Grants (which are fully funded by grant and, therefore, make no call on
the Council’s capital resources). Further iterations of the capital programme to be approved
by the Council will, no doubt identify additional, required capital spend. The Council will
need to identify the source of funding for such additional capital spend in the context of its

plans to secure a financially stable future.

The major items of capital expenditure in 2024/25 are in respect of Union Yard (£5.384m)
and the Crematorium (£4.418m). Together these comprise 73% of the capital programme in
2024/25. Both of these are included in the capital programme for 2025/26 at a much reduced
level of spending, with Disabled Facilities Grants becoming the major item of capital
expenditure in 2025/26 and the only item by 2027/28.

Historically, the capital programme has been funded through prudential borrowing. Given
the Council’s financial position and the objective of reducing the level of debt to support
financial sustainability, the report to Council on 22" February states “any new projects will
need to be funded from other sources of external finance such as government grants” until

the Council has achieved a financially sustainable position.

Key Schemes in the Capital Programme
The MTFS discusses key schemes in the capital programme. These are summarised below:

Page 38 34



» Aldershot Crematorium - Refurbishment of this key operational asset, which
contributes to the General Fund, was approved by Cabinet in September 2023.
Accurate assessment of refurbishment costs will become available once a Main

Contractor has been appointed.

* Union Yard - It is anticipated that the whole of the budget approved to date will be
fully spent by 2024-25 and the scheme will be completed. An amount of £0.603m is
held back for 2025/26 to cover the contracted retention fee.

+ The Meads - Purchase of the Meads was approved by Cabinet in April 2023. There is
currently no capital budget for this scheme in 2024-25 as it was intended necessary

capital investment would be revenue funded in the business case.

» The Civic Quarter is not included in the capital programme for 2024-25 beyond some
limited enabling works primarily funded by approved grants which are included within
2023-24 programme. There is ongoing work to seek support from government

agencies and undertake funded work to increase the value of council land assets.

The Leisure and Cultural Hub project which would have relied on prudential borrowing is not
included in the capital programme despite the Council being awarded £20million Levelling-
up capital funding in 2023 towards this project. Approval of this award assumed matching
funding of £20m through prudential (PWLB) borrowing.

The report to the Council on 22™ February 2024 setting out the capital programme states
“The overall cost of this project and the associated mobility hub is currently forecast at circa
£67million. Based on the current financial forecast, estimated running costs and income
projections for the project once complete, there would be a funding gap which was intended
to have been met by prudential borrowing in 2026-27. Given this report, the Council cannot
today rely on being able to take additional borrowing at that point”. The report further states
“a decision will be made on this (the Leisure and Cultural Hub) when the revised MTFS is

produced in July”.

There are no indications that the Council is classifying investments within its capital
programme incorrectly or pursuing investments primarily for yield or without regard for wider

socio-economic benefit.

Rushmoor Companies

Rushmoor Homes Limited (RHL)
Rushmoor Homes Limited (RHL) is a company wholly owned by Rushmoor Borough

Council. The purpose of the company is to develop and acquire a portfolio of residential

Page 3935



properties for letting in the local housing market. We understand RHL also manages a

number of residential properties on behalf of the Council.

The RHL business model is based on the Council lending money to RHL to fund
development (and acquisition). In return, the Council receives interest as income on the

loans.

The Council makes two kinds of loans to RHL for which interest is due, consisting of the
value of land transferred to the company, called loan notes, and cash (borrowing) to fund
property development. RHL borrowing is funded by the Council from the Council’'s own

borrowing (debt).

The company has been slow in achieving its stated aims. An update on RHL’s progress
against its business plan 2021 — 2026 in September 2021 identifies that in 2021/22 RHL
owned only one property and managed two properties on behalf of the Council. It was
projected at that time that RHL would own fifty-nine properties by 2023/24, with the bulk of
these (fifty-three properties) having been developed by RHL and the remainder having been
transferred by the Council or acquired on the open market. At that time, it was not part of
the plan for RHL to manage properties on behalf of the Council. We understand that RHL

currently owns nine properties, substantially less than had been planned.

At its meeting on 12th March 2024, the Cabinet approved the transfer (sale) on a long
leasehold basis of eighty-two residential units that form part of the Union yard development
for £16.975m. Our understanding is that development of these properties is nearing

completion and they will be acquired by RHL on a vacant basis.

The Cabinet decision is subject to due diligence with the final terms of the disposal to be
progressed by the Executive Director in consultation with the Major Projects and Property

Portfolio Holder. The target date for practical completion and handover is July 2024.

This is a significant change in the operational scale of RHL. The company governance
arrangements require a rolling five-year Business Plan to be approved by the Council. A new
Business Plan 2024 -2029 is in the process of being produced. We understand that a draft
has been produced but that the Council is seeking external validation of the robustness of
the Business Plan before it is agreed and prior to the transfer (sale) of the Union Yard

properties to RHL is completed.

Page 40 36



The 2024/25 to 2027/28 MTFS assumes the transfer (sale) will takes place and incorporates

the following in relation to RHL.

. . 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27

Detailed Medium Term Original Draft Projected Projected

H ' Budget Budget £'000 £'000
Financial Strategy 000 0o
RHL Ltd:
Interest Income - Loan Notes (522) (968) (1,220) (1,085)
Interest Income - Loans (78) (67) (59)
Operational costs recovered (70) (70) (70) (70)
Operational costs - - - -
MRP 25 15 211 209
Interest on Borrowing: 15 855 631 507
Net Revenue Impact (552) (241) (515) (498)

This shows a net revenue benefit to the Council in 2024/25 and in subsequent years.
Interest on loan notes is based on an outstanding balance due to the Council of £17.870m
from 204/25 (£0.780m in 2023/24) and throughout the period of the MTFS. The interest on
loans is based on an outstanding balance of £0.970 in 2024/25 and throughout the period of
the MTFS. The total indebtedness of RHL to the Council from 2024/25 to 2027/28 is,
therefore, being £18.750m.

However, the S.151 Officer’'s Section 25 report in relation to the 2024/25 budget, in
considering the robustness of the estimates, does state “the transfer of property from Union
Yard to RHL is a significant budget assumption and investment property long term
maintenance commitments and rental income modelling is not reconciled to the MTFS
revenue budgets beyond 2024/25”.

RHL incurs a 3% interest rate premium on the Council’'s own cost of borrowing. However,
the report to the Council on 22nd February 2024 in relation to the MTFS does state “RHL
does not have sufficient cash to settle the interest due each year and therefore the Council
has agreed to hold the interest due as a debtor balance on the Council’s balance sheet until
RHL is generating sufficient cashflow to settle the debtor position. This will have a small

impact on the Council’s cashflow position”.

Validation of the robustness of RHL’s Business Plan will support the Council in strengthening
the robustness of its own estimates in the MTFS and determining the ability of RHL to meet
its obligations to the Council in respect of interest payments on the loans provided by the

Council.

Rushmoor Development Partnership (RDP)
Rushmoor Development Partnership (RDP) was established in 2018 as a 50/50 joint venture

limited liability partnership (LLP) with Hill Partnerships Ltd, to provide expertise and capacity

to support delivery of the Council’s regeneration aspirations.

Page 4137



Our understanding is that the design of the RDP the model assumes that once planning is
achieved a ‘project’ plan is submitted and the land ‘put in’ by the Council with development
costs shared and a land value agreed. All costs are then deducted from the profits and

residual profit shared.

On 31t January 2024 a “RDP Progress Review” report was presented to the Corporate
Governance, Audit and Standards Committee which included as an appendix a progress
report prepared by RDP covering the period January 2022 to December 2023. This
identifies the involvement RDP has had in a number of schemes including Parsons

Barracks, the Civic Quarter and Union Yard.

In relation to Union Yard, following development of the scheme through feasibility and
planning by RDP, the Council opted to pursue a direct delivery option and entered into the

main build contract with Hill Partnerships.

The RDP report states, “With the exception of concluding the planning consent for the Civic
Quarter Masterplan the RDP currently has no live projects”. The report to the Corporate
Governance, Audit and Standards Committee on 31st January 2024 states “Members should
note the current ‘on hold’ status of the company’s business activity given the economic

situation and the negative viability of planned schemes”.

This report concludes “RDP has made a positive contribution to moving forward the
Council’s regeneration objectives” and that “The Committee are invited to note the progress
achieved and that a future report of the role of the company or new project plans will come

forward in due course”.

We understand there is a potential liability related to loan notes sitting in the RDP in the
region of £1.5m. This relates to the planning costs of the Civic Quarter Masterplan which
would need to be settled from early receipts unless the RDP takes forward plots for
development. It is considered this liability would only materialise if the RDP partnership is

ended.

The S.151 Officer is of the opinion that the Council’s potential liability is material and will

accordingly be disclosed in the notes to the Statement of Accounts for 2023/24.

Conclusion
As is set out above, the Council’s capital programme tails off dramatically over the period of

the MTFS. This is what we would expect to see given the Council’s challenge in regard to

financial sustainability and the need to reduce debt.

Page 42 38



However, as indicated in the February 2024 report considered by the Cabinet this does
mean that current plans for key schemes such as the Civic Quarter and the Leisure and
Cultural Hub need to be rethought and that, potentially these schemes will need to be
delayed and/or redesigned to reduce cost. We understand the Council-owned assets
related to these schemes are being considered for inclusion in the asset disposal
programme set out in the Financial Resilience Plan to contribute to the £40m the Council

needs to raise to realise the interest and MRP savings target in the MTFS.

In relation to RHL, the transfer (sale) of Union Yard properties will significantly increase the
scale of RHL. Whilst, the Council makes a return on the lending it provides to RHL, this is
the only direct financial benefit derived from the arrangement since it is not envisaged the
company will be in a position to pay a dividend for some time, if ever, and will not even be in

a position to pay the interest due to the Council on the loans made to it at present.

At the same time the Council will need to maintain the level of debt associated with the loans
to RHL of circa £17m, resulting in both continuing interest and MRP costs to be met by the
Council’'s General Fund Revenue budget. It is not clear when the principal would be repaid
by RHL.

The MTFS does project a positive contribution to the General Fund over the period of the
MTFS. It, therefore, makes sense to pursue the current option of transfer (sale) to RHL
subject to the new RHL Business Plan providing a robust foundation for the MTFS
projections. It is essential that the Council is clear on the priorities and outcomes it is
seeking to achieve though this transfer, including the financial priorities and outcomes, and
how these support achieving and maintaining financial sustainability. It will also be
essential, should the transfer (sale) go ahead that actual performance is measured against
the Business Plan projections and that these Business Plan projections are kept under

review as key assumptions are subject to change.

Noting the Council has recently considered alternative options for the disposal of the 82 units
based on a report produced by Lambert Smith Hampton Investments, we would propose that
alternative options in relation to the proposed sale of the eighty-two residential units at Union
Yard to RHL could be reconsidered and particularly whether, given the Council’s financial
challenges, being a private sector landlord is really the kind of non-core business the Council
wants to be involved in. For example, sale of the 82 units to a 3" party would generate a

sizeable capital receipt and avoid the borrowing necessary if the units are sold to RHL.

Although this would have a negative impact on the revenue budget this could support a

number of objectives in achieving a stable financial position and, should the proposed new

Page 4339



capital flexibilities come into regulation, provide the Council with a capital receipt that can be

used to take advantage of these flexibilities.

In relation to RDP, the Council needs to determine the future of this limited liability
partnership considering the potential liability that exists and how this is to be resolved. In the
meantime, it is appropriate to include a note in the Statement of Accounts in respect of this

potential liability given its materiality.

Page 44 40



6. Governance

Alignment of the Council Plan with the MTFS
The Council Plan 2023 — 2026 was approved by the Council on 6" July 2023. The Council

Plan is refreshed and updated annually, setting out the priorities and key projects / activities

the Council will undertake over the next three years that contribute towards achieving the

Council’s longer-term vision set out in the document Your Future, Your Place — A vision for

Aldershot and Farnborough 2030. We understand, it is likely work on a refreshed Council

Plan will commence in 2024/25.

The Council Plan 2023 — 2026 identifies the Council’s priorities, stating “We are an ambitious

council, and this plan sets out our aspirations against two key areas of work -- People and

Place.”

The five People priorities include:

Support the creation of quality, new homes — referring to RHL and stating the

company’s focus will be to provide good quality, energy efficient homes for rent;

Progress the development of a new leisure centre and cultural hub in Farnborough —
stating the Council will continue to work on the approach, costs and designs for a

new leisure and cultural hub for Farnborough.

The five Place priorities include:

Complete Aldershot town centre’s Union Yard regeneration scheme — stating it will

be completed in the summer of 2024;

Progress the regeneration of Farnborough town centre, including the civic quarter —
stating that working as part of the Rushmoor Development Partnership (RDP) we will
begin to bring forward plans for the individual plots at the civic quarter and we will
progress the purchase of The Meads and Kingsmead shopping centre, together with
the car park and business centre, which supports our wider regeneration plans for

the town centre and civic quarter;

Update the facilities at the crematorium in Aldershot — stating architects will be
designing a major refurbishment of Aldershot Crematorium and we expect work to be
completed in Winter 2024.

These reflect the Council’s focus on regeneration, which is on a scale comparable to many

larger local authorities. Whilst financial sustainability is recognised as a key corporate risk

Page 4541



and is referred to in the Council Plan under the heading ‘Financial uncertainty’ in the key

opportunities and challenges section of the Plan, it is not identified as a key priority.

It also has to be considered, in developing the next iteration of the Council plan whether the

Council’'s priorities still align with the Council’s financial situation, especially given the scaling

back of the capital programme and the need to reduce the level of borrowing in order to

achieve the interest and MRP savings through an asset disposal programme of £40m.

In our opinion, the Council should also recognise the need to ensure that the next version of

the Council Plan has as a core priority the attainment and maintenance of financial

sustainability, enabling the Council to prioritise more effectively its longer-term strategic aims

for the area and its residents against the financial limitations that it faces; balancing its

ambitions alongside its core responsibilities and services.

Governance Arrangements

Council

The overall governance arrangements set out in the Constitution are set out below.

THE COUNCIL
$ ‘ ¢
COMMITTEES
CABINET (Dealing with specified non-executive
(Dealing with executive functions) functions)
PORTFOLIOS: l‘
Customer Experience, Transformation & Corporate # #
Finance
Democracy, Strategy and Partnerships CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT
Planning and Economy GOVERNANCE, AUDIT  MANAGEMENT
Operational Services
Major Projects and Property AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE
COMMITTEE

POLICY AND PROJECT
ADVISORY BOARD

!
v v v

TASK AND FINISH GROUFPS

June 2022

A
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

COMMITTEE

!

LICENSING SUB-
COMMITTEES

v v

TASK AND FINISH GROUPS

POLICY
FRAMEWORK
LEVEL

DECISION
MAKING
LEVEL

POLICY
DEVELOPMENT
AND REVIEW

LEVEL

L 34N9I4

Whilst not referred to in the Constitution, which we understand is in the process of being

updated, we are also aware of the following cross-party Member working groups which also

include officers in their membership:

» Budget Strategy Working Group

Page 46

42



» Strategic Housing and Local Plan Working Group

*  Member Development Group

» Capital Projects and Property Advisory Group (CPPAG)
* Waste and Recycling Options Working Group

* Union Yard Project Board

* Leisure and Cultural Hub Project Board

In addition to this the Capital Programme Board provides the opportunity for the Executive
team to focus exclusively on the Council’s major capital projects. The Board is underpinned
by robust programme and project management arrangements reflecting the size of the

Council’s current capital programme activity.

From the minutes of the various Cabinet Working Groups we were provided with, it appears
that some of these are more for updating progress on various matters rather than fulfilling a
strategic and advisory role that both provides challenge on progress and provides advice to
the Cabinet.

From our interviews, there also appears to be a view that the Overview and Scrutiny

Committee does not really provide substantial challenge.

Capital Programme
We have been provided with the following in relation to capital programme governance.

Cabinet Working Membership <j

Groups [Project ) Ca bl_net . . Members Scrutin
Briefing and progress of overview and decisions as required Y
Boards)

Committee
Significant Capital Project ﬁ
Delivery e.g. UY/Leisure

Overview and

Membership
X

. _ ~ Capital Programme Board Executive Directors Membership
P|pe||ne Programme review meeting Chief financial Officer Members

every 6-8 weeks Head of Legal
Management
Programme
Management

Membership q .
Sponsor Programme & Project Office Membership

Programme Manager Sponsor
Programme Manager
Development Managers

Coordinates Project Exec

Capital Programme Projects reports for Programme
Board agenda

Investment Project attendance at
Programme Board on an
Team exception basis e.g. key
R decisions to proceed.
Project Governance and Resource
Other briefing through

standard ELT route

Page 4743



In our opinion, it is unclear to us which advice to the Cabinet (the Cabinet Working Groups or

the Capital Programme Board has primacy.

The Cabinet Working Groups include CPPAG (which considers commercial property
investments and we understand, more recently, new capital investment) and the Project
Boards for Union Yard and the Leisure and Cultural Hub. There is some common officer
membership of these Cabinet Working Groups and the Capital Programme Board. Itis
worth noting that there is a Project Board for the Leisure and Cultural Hub despite not being
formally part of the Council’s approved Capital Programme for 2024/25 onwards. However,
as is stated in the report to the Council of 22" February 2024 (referenced in Section 5
above) “a decision will be made on this (the Leisure and Cultural Hub) when the revised
MTFS is produced in July”.

The same document provided to us in relation to capital programme governance identified

the following key documents in relation to capital programme governance.

Document Process Flow Chart

01 i 02 . 03 . 04 i 05
Project Brief : Outline Business Case ! | Project Initiation Document | | Project Delivery Plan 3 Full Business Case

Whilst we have seen comment in relation to Outline and Full Business Cases in reports to

Cabinet, we have not had sight of these as standalone documents so are unable to

comment on their robustness.

However, we do note, in relation to the Leisure and Cultural Hub the minutes of Capital
Programme Board made available to us imply that an Outline Business Case has not yet

been completed.

* 15th November 2023 Capital Programme Board state it was "Confirmed the Outline
Business Case (for the Leisure and Cultural Hub) will be circulated to the Programme
Board for review and comment ahead of the next board meeting" which was on
24th January 2024.

*  24th January Capital Programme Board state, “Action 3.36 (15.11.2023) - Closed-
Leisure Outline Business case report to be presented at Cabinet" and also "Advised
a pause in progressing the outline business case subject to the outcomes of the

Cabinet report and Willmott Dixon cost review / redesign considerations. (On Hold)".

Page 48 44



We do not have the minutes of the subsequent meeting of the Capital Programme Board on

21st March 2024 so do not know if there was a further update.

We note that the Capital Programme Board, as an officer body, is not the decision making
body for new financial commitment and that all major decisions relating to capital and other

significant projects are taken through the Cabinet and Council.

Companies
At present Rushmoor Councillors sit on the boards of the companies it owns. In addition to

three representatives of Hill, the RDP Board includes the following:
» Deputy Leader and Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder
+ Chief Executive, Rushmoor Borough Council
» Executive Director, Rushmoor Borough Council

The RHL Board is dominated by Councillors, three of the four members of the RHL Board

being Councillors, namely:
* Finance Portfolio Holder
* Non- portfolio holding Cabinet member
» Leader of the Labour group

The shareholder role is undertaken by the Monitoring Officer/Deputy CEO for RDP and the
CEO for RHL who provide Shareholder Reports to the Corporate Governance, Standards
and Audit Committee (RDP) and the Cabinet (RHL). In our opinion this does not provide
clarity of responsibilities. For example, two of the RHL Board members sit on the Cabinet to

which the CEO reports as ‘shareholder’.

We are aware of other Council’s where different arrangements are in place, on the
recommendation of External Auditors to strengthen governance arrangements, where
Councillors no longer sit on the Boards of local authority owned companies but instead sit on
Shareholder Boards (constituted as a Cabinet Sub-committee) in order to provide
shareholder oversight, rather than sitting on the Board of the company and being directly

involved in the functioning of the company.

CIPFA’s “Local Authority Companies: A Good Practice Guide” published in 2022 is a useful

reference in this context.

Statutory Officers and the Chief Finance (S.151) Officer
In “The role of the chief financial officer in public service organisations” published in

September 2023, CIPFA states, in relation to critical relationships for the chief financial

Page 445



officer, “The CFQO’s primary relationship within the organisation is with the chief executive
officer (CEOQ) or their equivalent. The CEO and CFO share a common vision for the
organisation and work effectively as a team to turn this vision into reality. A strong and
supportive relationship based on trust and mutual respect allows the CFO to act as an

advisor to the CEO and to challenge them when required”.

In local government, the CEO, S.151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer represent a ‘golden
triangle’ of statutory officers who work closely together. The imminent “Code of Practice on
Good Governance for Local Authority Statutory Officers” which has been consulted on by
LLG, CIPFA and SOLACE (consultation closed on 5th April 2024) will state “The Chief
Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer should have a clear and direct relationship to the
Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), normally through line management or other

equivalent arrangement”.

It will also state “There must be regular meetings between the Head of Paid Service, Chief
Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer (Statutory Officer meetings), which should include the
Head of Internal Audit on a regular basis, to review current and likely future issues that will
raise political, financial, legal, staffing or other issues that may impact on their statutory

duties”.

In Rushmoor, the S.151 Officer reports to the Monitoring Officer/Deputy CEO so is not a
direct report to the CEO. In our opinion, good practice suggests the S.151 Officer should

have a status equivalent to the Monitoring Officer and be a direct report to the CEO.

We do note that the Executive Leadership Team, which is the officer leadership group in the
Council does include the ‘golden triangle’ with the addition of the second Executive Director,
Assistant CEO and Executive Heads of Service, providing a broader skill base and challenge
beyond those of the statutory officers. However, the imminent “Code of Practice on Good
Governance for Local Authority Statutory Officers” does suggest regular meetings of the

‘golden triangle’, as the key officer leadership team.

Operational Culture
Comments on the operational culture of the Council are inevitably an impression gained from

the information provided to us and the interviews undertake in the course of our work.

Our impression is that the Council has had a significant focus on major regeneration
projects. This has contributed to the high levels of debt and the current challenge to

financial sustainability.

Page 50 46



In our interviews, participants identified that the Council, in the absence of defining its risk
appetite, has accepted a high level of risk in order to progress its regeneration ambitions,

acting in an “entrepreneurial” manner

The historic lack of capacity and capability of key individuals in finance identified in Section
3 may have led to insufficient financial involvement and input in some significant decisions.
Finance sections in reports are not always written by the finance service which, whilst there
is opportunity for review as part of the report approval process, could result in a lack of

clarity and ownership of financial implications

The challenge for the Council now, given the need to secure and maintain financial
sustainability, is how Members and senior officers can provide the focus and leadership
required in making what will inevitably include some difficult decisions adversely impacting

on the Council’s ambitions, in order to achieve this.

This needs to be supported by effective governance arrangements which provide a clear,
strategic direction and ensure all decisions take are cognisant of the need to secure and

maintain financial sustainability.

Conclusion
Governance arrangements need to be coherent and focused on supporting the Council in

making good decisions in a timely way, especially given the financial position the Council is

in. We have identified a number of issues which, in our opinion, undermine this.

Consequently, in our opinion and given the urgency of the situation, the Council would
benefit from a review of governance arrangements supported by clarity of priorities, focus
and direction, which leaves no room for competing agendas or diversion from the essential
decisions and actions the Council needs to take. The measures the Council need to take
are not a ‘menu’ of options so effective leadership is needed to ensure a cohesive approach

to implementing them.

Page 5147



7. Improvement Proposals and Recommendations
At the meeting to set the 2024/25 budget and approve the 2024/25 — 2027/28 MTFS on

22nd February, the report included, at Appendix 1, a Financial Resilience Plan.

In relation to this the report states “The Executive Leadership Team have been working with
Cabinet to develop a detailed Financial Resilience Plan which includes a range of medium-

and shorter-term actions to deliver the above strategy over the next 18 months”.

The report also states, “The work on delivering the Financial Resilience Plan has
commenced and current key actions and delivery arrangements are set out in Appendix 17.
It also states “The Financial Resilience Plan will develop over the next few months and will
need to be jointly owned by officers and councillors. It will be a priority for the Council
moving forward to drive the change and transformation required to support financial
recovery”. The current key actions set out in Appendix 1 of the report to Council are included

as Appendix B to this report.

The Financial Resilience Plan states “Appropriate delivery and governance measures will be
implemented and agreed with Executive Leadership Team and Cabinet Members to approve
actions, implementation plans and track progress against proposed targets. Currently
oversight on budget, savings and transformation is undertaken by both the Budget Strategy
Working Group and the Transformation Task and Finish Group and members will be invited

to consider appropriate oversight arrangements for the Financial Resilience Plan”.

As we have commented in Section 6 it is important to have the right focus and leadership in
meeting the challenge to secure and maintain financial sustainability. It is essential that the
governance arrangements put in place to implement the Financial Resilience Plan reflect this
need for focus and leadership together with a sense of urgency. This implies a more
directive approach to completing the activities that are fundamental to achieving and
maintaining financial sustainability with clear accountabilities and timescales for delivery.
Some Councils have successfully adopted a ‘gold command’ approach in similar
circumstances, with a small team of officers (such as the ‘golden triangle’ we have referred

to in Section 6) taking the lead with oversight from the Leader and key Portfolio holders.

It is important that other governance processes are supportive of this approach and that all

members of the ‘improvement team’ have the same focus on the ‘end-game’.

The Financial Resilience Plan includes the key work-steams we would expect to see in such
a plan and that DLUHC would expect to see a local authority act on before considering any
form of Exceptional Financial Support, including spending controls, savings targets, and the

scaling back of the capital programme. However, it does not include an asset disposal

Page 52 48



programme as a specific work-stream, reference is only made to asset disposal in relation to
the Commercial Property Review work-stream when it is clear the Council will have to look
more widely across its property portfolio in order to identify the £40m asset disposal

programme required.

Whilst we understand the implementation of the Financial Resilience Plan is underway, the
Council ideally needs to accelerate its delivery. This will require clear accountabilities and

agreed realistic timescales for implementation, in particular around the:

» Identification and tracking of the service cost reduction savings target which needs a
permanent removal from the base budget of £0.5m each year for the next four years,
including 2024/25

» Identification of the £40m asset disposal programme which is the key to achieving

the Interest and MRP cost reduction savings target.

The Financial Resilience Plan includes a Finance work-stream and it is important that issues
in financial management capacity and competencies are addressed. In addition, the Council
will need access to capacity (in terms of skills and experience) to implement the asset
disposal programme. The planned refresh of the MTFS s an important milestone. It is vital
that, once this is considered, the Council has confidence and visibility of the outcomes,
governance and accountabilities included in the Financial Resilience Plan along with the
specific actions and their associated timescales so that the MTFS can properly reflect the

Council’s path to financial sustainability.

Our recommendation, therefore, is that the Council builds on the work to date and quickly
develops a more detailed delivery plan which sets out clear timescales, actions and

accountabilities setting out:

» The financial outcomes required as adjusted by the outturn, review of reserves and
revised MTFS

* The subsequent actions to be taken and when decision are needed

* Reporting and monitoring arrangements to ensure Financial Resilience Plan is on

target and there is good visibility on progress
The action plan should include detailed plans in relation to:

o Assets to be disposed of (at an individual asset level)

e Service cost reductions

Page 5349



This is fundamental to achieving the Council’s planned journey to a more financially

sustainable future.

The revised MTFS should set out key financial targets and dates to be achieved. A detailed
delivery plan will mitigate the risk of not meeting these target dates, focus minds and provide
a clear framework for accountability and implementation.

Page 54 50



Appendix A — Financial Trajectory 2021/22 — 2023/24

In this Appendix we examine the financial history of the Council between 2021/22 to
2023/24. This highlights how the current financial challenge developed. In our view, there
has been a lack of clarity and consistency in reporting which makes it more difficult for those
without significant financial expertise to fully understand the overall financial position at any
specific time.

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021/22

At its meeting on 25" February 2021, the Council set a net general fund revenue budget
£12.869m for 2021/22. With available funding of £11.855m, this resulted in a ‘core deficit’ of
£1.014m to be met from the planned use of the Sustainability & Resilience Reserve.

The “Final Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22” report was not reported to Cabinet until
13" September 2022. Previous reports in April and July 2022 had provided updates to
Cabinet on the outturn position. The “P3 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme
Monitoring Draft Outturn 2021/22” report to Cabinet on 26" April set out agreed changes to
the budget during 2021/22 which increased the budget to £13.076m as at 315 December
2021 (a net increase of £0.207m) with a further increase to £13.360m by virtue of Council
decisions on 25" February 2022 (a net increase of £0.285m). With funding of £11.892m (an
increase of £0.037m), this revised ‘latest’ budget had a ‘core deficit’ of £1.468m to be met

from the MTFS Equalisation Reserve (an increase of £0.454m).

On 5" July 2022, the “Draft Outturn 2021/22" report to Cabinet also stated a budget of
£13.360m. However, the “Final Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22” in September 2022
further revised the 2021/22 budget to £13.386m (a marginal difference of £0.026m) with
funding reverting to £11.855 resulting in a ‘core deficit’ of £1,531m (a further increase of
£0.063m) to be met from the Sustainability & Resilience Reserve (Note, alternating of the

name of the reserve).

The “P3 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme Monitoring Draft Outturn 2021/22” report
in April 2022 forecast a ‘core deficit’ of £0.826m with provisional carry-forwards of £0.250m

resulting in a forecast call on the MTFS Equalisation Reserve of £1.076m.

The “Final Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22” to the Cabinet in September 2022 shows
a net underspend (‘core surplus’) of £0.078m (Spend of £13.370m less funding of £13.448m)
compared to the latest version of the 2021/22 budget.

However, the spend total of £13.370m includes a net use of earmarked reserves of £5.486m

(against a budgeted use of earmarked reserves of £1.546m in the latest version of the

Page 551



2021/22 budget). The Final Revenue Outturn Report 2021/22 sets out the following

accounting for the ‘core surplus’ of £0.078m.

2021/22 2021722

Original Latest 2021/22 2021122

Budget Budget Outturn Variation
General Fund Revenue Budget (£'000) (£'000) (£'000) (£'000)
Core (Surplus) or Deficit 1,014 1,931 (78) (1,609)
2021/22 Carry Forwards - Transfer to Reserves 432 432
Balanced by:
General Fund Balance (353) (353)
Stability & Resilience Reserve (1,014) (1,531) 1,531
Core Surplus or Deficit after Transfers 0 0 0 (0)

On this basis, the net call on reserves in 2021/22 is £5.408m. This reconciles to the
Movement in Reserves Statement and the Expenditure and Funding Analysis in the draft
Statement of Accounts 2021/22 which identifies a closing General Fund Balance at 31*
March 2022 of £23.750. However, the 2021/22 position is restated in the draft Statement of
Accounts 2022/23, increasing the opening General Fund Balance as at 31% March 2021
from £29.156m to £29.985m and restating the use of reserves in 2021/22 to £6.607m to
arrive at a closing General Fund Balance at 31% March 2022 of £23.918m (of which

Earmarked Reserves are £21.918m), a difference in closing position of £0.168m.

Revenue Budget Outturn 2022/23
At its meeting on 24" February 2022, the Council set a net general fund revenue budget of

£12.503m for 2022/23. With available funding of £11.530m, this resulted in a ‘core deficit’ of
£0.973m to be met from the planned use of the MTFS Equalisation Reserve of £0.500m and
an ‘Additional Cost Reduction and Savings Target/Additional income Target’ of £0.473m.

The “Q4 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme Final Outturn Report 2022/23” to Cabinet
on 4™ July 2023 states “Additional changes to the budget were agreed by Council in April
2022, with a further change to correct the ICE Programme budget, with a further reflection of
the projected use of reserves and matching of resources. The revised budget was
£11.530m”. This revised budget of £11.530m incorporated a net use of reserves of £1.649m
and planned savings of £1.028m in arriving at a “Net General Fund Revenue Budget” of
£11.530m.

However, the “Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report P1 2022/23” to Cabinet on 9"
August 2022 did not reflect this change in budget which was still stated as being £12.503m.
It is unclear, therefore, when these changes to the budget were approved.

Page 56 52



On 4th July 2022 the “2022-23 High Risk Budgets, Financial Reporting Plan and Budget
Monitoring Process” report to Cabinet had set out a timetable for in-year P1, P2 and P3
Budget Monitoring 2022/23 reports to Cabinet together with a P4 Budgeting Monitoring and
Draft Outturn Report in July 2023 and a Final Outturn Report in September 2023.

The P1 report (referred to above) was provided to the Cabinet on time on 9" August 2022.
This forecast a ‘core deficit’ of £2.578m, £1.605m more than the £0.973m in the original
budget approved on 24" February 2022.

There is no evidence of the P2 (due 15" November 2022) and P3 (due 14" March 2023)
reports being produced, though a Budget Strategy 2023/24 was produced for the Cabinet
meeting on 15" November 2022 which still referred to a 2022/23 budget of £12.503m. Thus,
it would appear the P1 report was the only forecast outturn provided to the Cabinet in-year,
though the report to Council on 23 February 2023 (to set the 2023/24 budget) does refer to
a forecast overspend in 2022/23 of £0.692m to be mitigated by a reduction in the
contribution to the Pension Reserve of £0.500m. This suggests a significant lack of
oversight and monitoring of the budget during the year at a time when financial pressures

and the use of reserves creates real challenges.

In the event the planned Draft Outturn report to Cabinet on 4™ July 2023 became the Final
Outturn Report 2022/23 (referred to above). This states an outturn position of net spend of
£11.605m (against a budget of £11.530m) with funding of £11.605m (i.e. no ‘core surplus or
deficit). However, net spend of £11.605m is after taking account of a net use of reserves of
£0.530m in 2022/23.

The section of the Final Outturn Report 2022/23 in relation to Reserves and Balances
reflects this £0.530m use of reserves to support spending, identifying in Table 4 a reduction
in Earmarked Reserves from £22.094m as at 315 March 2022 to £21.564m as at 315 March
2023. The report does contain the caveat that “The forecast has been amended to reflect
the updated outturn position only. It is likely that the level of specific earmarked reserves will
change from those indicated in the table below as the final outturn position will inform the

level of reserve-funded expenditure”.

However, the draft Statement of Accounts 2022/23, which was provided to the Corporate
Governance, Audit and Standards Committee on 26" July 2023 (i.e. the same month the
Cabinet received the Final Outturn 2022/23 report), identifies a net change in Earmarked
Reserves of £2.060m from £21.198m to £19.136m in 2022/23. The differences are

summarised in the table below.

Page 5753



Opening Movement Closing

Balance in Year Balance
£000s £000s £000s
Final Outturn Report 2022/23 22,094 - 530 21,564
Statement of Accounts 2022/23 21,918 - 2,782 19,136
Difference - 176 - 2,252 - 2,428

There is clear inconsistency between these two documents presented to Members in July
2023 in respect of the opening balance, in-year use and the closing balance of Earmarked

Reserves.

The difference in the opening balance in the Final Outturn Report is explained by a
difference in the opening balance of the Sustainability & Resilience Reserve. The Final
Outturn Report 2022/23 overstates the opening balance by £0.176m, mistakenly stating the
balance as at 31" March 2021 as the balance as at 31 March 2022.

The difference in net movement is mostly explained (£1.948m or 86.5% of the £2.252m total)
by the movement in-year in the Statement of Accounts being greater than in the Final

Outturn Report by:
+ Stability & Resilience Review — £0.117m
+ Affordable Housing Reserve - £0.166m
* Covid BRR EMR reserve - £1.665m

Given Appendix 5 of the report to Council on 22" February 2024, to set the 2024/25 budget,
identifies a balance of Earmarked Reserves of £19.136m as at 315 March 2023 (i.e. the
closing balance on the draft Statement of Accounts 2022/23), it might be assumed that
reliance should be placed on the draft Statement of Accounts 2022/23 and that the Final
Outturn Report 2022/23 is a misleading anomaly.

Consequently, the use of Earmarked Reserves in 2022/23 is £2.782m (per the draft
Statement of Accounts 2022/23) rather than £0.530m in the Final Outturn Report 2022/23. It
must also be concluded, therefore, that the Final Outturn Report 2022/23 understates spend
by the difference between the two of £2.252m. In addition, the Council maintains a General
Fund Balance (working balance) of £2.000m giving total reserves of £21.136m as at 31
March 2023.

Forecast Revenue Budget Outturn 2023/24
At its meeting on 23" February 2023, the Council set a ‘Net General Fund Revenue Budget’

of £12.393m for 2023/24. With available funding of £12.393m, this resulted in a ‘core

Page 58 54



surplus/deficit’ of zero though this was only after taking into account ‘Outcomes Based
Budgeting Savings’ of £2.291m. This 'Net General Fund Revenue Budget’ was contained in
Table 3 — Medium Term Financial Forecast in the “Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and

Council Tax Level” report to Council.

However, Appendix 1 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27 to this report
(note date error in title), which is what the Council was specifically asked to approve, is not
consistent with Table 3 in the report in respect of 2023/24, the Net Revenue Budget and
funding) being £0.024m lower at £12.369m. There was no detailed summary of the 2023/24
budget included in the report, which aggregated major areas of spend (i.e.it gave little

information about how ‘Portfolio Net Expenditure’ was made up).

The ‘Original Budget’ of £12.393m was disaggregated in the “Revenue and Capital
Monitoring Report — Q1 2023/24” to Cabinet on 6 August 2023 however an increased
‘Approved Budget’ is identified of £13.706m, an increase of £1.313m. In the “Approved
Budget” this increase is funded by an increase in Business Rates of £1.313m to arrive at a
‘core surplus/deficit’ of zero. At Q1 there was a forecast ‘core deficit’ of £0.693m after net

use of reserves of £1.337m.

The ‘Approved Budget’ in both the “Revenue and Capital Monitoring Report — Q2 2023/24”
reported to Cabinet on 9" January 2024 and the “Revenue and Capital Monitoring Report —
Q3 2023/24” reported to Cabinet on 12" March 2024 revert to an ‘Approved Budget’ of
£12.393m. However, the way in which this is arrived at does change significantly as is
illustrated below.

Original Approved Approved Approved

Per Q1 Per Q1 Per Q2 Per Q3 Change
Changes in 2023/24 Budget Per Q1, Q2 and Q3 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Corporate Services 2,975 3,029 3,629 3,619 644
Customer Experience & Improvement 511 547 27 27 - 484
Democracy, Strategy & Partnerships 2,615 2,989 3,035 3,193 578
major Projects & Property - 4875 - 4875 - 4,634 - 4,651 224
Operational Services 10,567 10,574 10,675 10,982 415
Planning & Economy 2,100 2,188 2,198 2,233 133
Sub-Total 13,893 14,453 14,929 15,404 1,511
Less Reversal of Accounting Entries - 2,901 - 2,901 - 2,901 - 2,901 -
Net Service Revenue Budget 10,992 11,552 12,028 12,503 1,511
Corporate Income & Expenditure 2,178 3,491 2,173 2,178 -
Movement in Reserves - 778 - 1,337 - 1,809 - 2,289 - 1,511
Net General Fund Revenue Budget 12,393 13,706 12,393 12,393
Funding - 12,393 - 13,706 - 12,393 - 12,393
Core (Surplus)/Deficit
Net Budget Requirement (Before Use of Reserves) 13,171 15,043 14,202 14,682 1,511

Page 59%5



The above analysis demonstrates that compared to the Q1 Original Budget, the Q3
Approved Budget, though coming to the same “Net General Fund Revenue Budget” of
£12.393m, represents an increase in the “Net Budget Requirement” of £1.511m funded by

an increase in the use of reserves of £1.511m.

More insightful and transparent, the “Net Budget Requirement” presentation of the budget,
which other Councils adopt, more clearly identifies the level of spending the Council has
agreed to in setting the budget before any budgeted use of reserves (which is included as a
source of funding). In effect, the changes in the “Approved Budget” illustrated above imply
the Council has agreed to spend £1.511m more during the course of 2023/24 and to fund

this from reserves. The forecast outturn at Q2 and Q3 is summarised in the table below.

Budget Q2 Forecast Budget Q3 ForecastForecast +/-

Q2 & Q3 2023/24 Forecasts £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Net Srvice Revenue Budget 12,029 12,498 12,503 11,731 - 767
Cororate Income & Expenditure 364 3,641 - 110 3,613 - 28
Net GF Revenue Budget 12,393 16,139 12,393 15,344 - 795
Funding - 12,393 - 13,787 - 12,393 - 13,166 621
Net Deficit - 2,352 - 2,178 - 174
Use of Reserves in Net GF Revenue Budget 1,809 1,809 2,289 1,578 - 231
Total Call on Reserves 1,809 4,161 2,289 3,756 - 405

Restated to reflect Net Budget Requirement

Net Budget Requirement (Before Use of Reserves) 14,202 17,948 14,682 16,922 - 1,026
Less Funding - 12,393 - 13,787 - 12,393 - 13,166 621
Net Deficit Before Use of Reserves 1,809 4,161 2,289 3,756 - 405

We have also identified the Net Budget Requirement to better reflect the level of spending by
the Council before the use of reserves is taken into account. This shows that the forecast
Net Budget Requirement at Q3 is £2.240m more than the Q3 version of the budget. This
difference of £2.240m is partially offset by an increase in funding against budget of £0.773m.
resulting in an overall forecast increased call on reserves of £1.467m compared to budget.

increasing to £3.756m from £2.289m.

However, there has been an improvement in the forecast outturn at Q3 compared to Q2,

with a reduction in the overall call on reserves of £0.405m, from £4.161m to £3.756m.

Summary 2021/22 to 2023/24
In the table below we have summarised and restated the reported 2021/22 and 2022/23

outturn positions together with the latest (Q3) forecast outturn for 2023/24. The purpose of
this restatement is to provide insight into the true level of spending (the Net Budget

Requirement) and use of reserves that has been required to support this level of spending.

Page 60 56



To do this the use of reserves to support spending included in the reported ‘Net General

Fund Revenue Budget’ has been added back to identify the Net Budget Requirement and

adjustments have been made in relation to the issues discussed above, namely:

* The restatement of 2021/22 in the draft Statement of Accounts 2022/23

* The position in respect of 2022/23 in the draft Statement of Accounts as opposed to
that set out in the Final Outturn Report 2022/23.

Summary 2021/22 to 2023/24

Net Service Expenditure

Corporate Income & Exenditure
Adjustments

Net Revenue Budget Requirement
Funding

Deficit Before Use of Reserves

Balance of Earmarked Reserves
Earmarked Reserves Opening Balance
Use of Earmarked Reserves
Earmarked Reserves Closing Balance
General Fund Balance

Total Reserves

2021/22
£000s
9,273
9,583
659
19,515
13,448
6,067

27,985
6,067
21,918
2,000
23,918

2022/23
£000s

9,738
2,397
2,252
14,387
11,605
2,782

21,918
2,782
19,136
2,000
21,136

2023/24
£000s
11,731
5,191
16,922
13,166
3,756

19,136
3,756
15,380
2,000
17,380

The above table also reconciles opening and closing balances on Earmarked Reserves. In

addition, the Council maintains a £2.000m General Fund balance (working balance).

It is not clear how the adjustments in the table above should be allocated to either Net

Service Expenditure or to Corporate Income & Expenditure. What is clear, however is that

spending has exceeded income in each of the past three financial years (2021/22 to

2023/24), adding to a cumulative use of reserves over the past three financial years to fund

this excess of spending over income of £12.605m (dependent on the final outturn for

2023/24). This is significant for a Council of Rushmoor’s size and responsibilities.

Page 6157



Appendix B — Financial Resilience Plan as at February

2024

Current Key Actions

Finance workstream

b)

c)
d)

f)
a)

Definition of the Minimum Revenue Position, to be
adopted for financial accounting and planning purposes.
Revision of a regular timetable for financial reporting and
budget setting and review.

Review of treasury operations.

Review of capital planning methodology.

Maintenance and improvement of suitable expenditure
controls into the medium term.

Management of the Council’s balance sheet.
Improvements in the quality of working papers,
documents, and reconciliations through establishment of
new standards for these matenals.

Development of financial skills within the Council.

Design and consultation on the structure of the finance
service at a suitable juncture.

Review of the Council's management of insurance.

Commercial Property
Review

Review of existing commercial investment property
portfalio

Development of an asset sales strategy and a property
income optimisation strategy, with external advisors
LSHM, to support and to deliver the best return for the
“‘public purse and leave the council with a balanced
portfolio”

Implementation of the resulting disposal programme

Capital Frogramme
Review

Continued analysis of the capital programme, including
phasing and financial commitments

Analysis of options pertaining to the future operation and
ownership of Union Yard following practical completion
Review of the Leisure and Cultural Hub project including
scope, delivery timescales and funding strategy

Fursuit of further grant and other funding opportunities
that can support delivery of the capital programme

RHL

Review the development schemes supported to reduce
the impact on the Council's revenue budget and
minimise risk to the Council

Transformation
Review

Delivery of existing savings and transformation activity

Development of a new transformation strategy which

ensures services can be delivered within the financial

resources available. This work could include;

. Development of options and supporting analysis

[I. Design and implementation of a revised target
operating model

lll. Design and implementation of revised service
designs and associated objectives

IV. Design and consultation for proposed organisational
changes

Page 62

58



€9 abed

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

The purpose of the work plan is to plan, manage and co-ordinate the ongoing activity and progress of the Council’s Overview and
Scrutiny Committee. It will be updated regularly and presented to each meeting of the Committee. It will include issues that are
currently being actioned as well as those that will be subject to future work.

The Committees Terms of Reference are as follows:

o to perform all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council;

o to appoint such formal sub-committees and informal task and finish groups as it considers necessary to assist it in
discharging its functions;

o to prepare and approve the overview and scrutiny work programme so as to ensure that the Committee’s time is
effectively and efficiently utilised;

o to undertake investigations into such matters relating to the Council’s functions and powers as:
(1) may be referred by the Council, Committees, the Cabinet, or the Leader; or
(2) the Committee may consider appropriate; or
(3) have been referred to the Committee pursuant to the “call-in” procedure set out in the Overview and

Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. (These can be decisions taken by the Cabinet, a
Cabinet Member, key decisions taken by an officer or under joint arrangements).

1. to monitor and review the performance of the Council and services against relevant performance indicators and adopted
plans;

Last Updated 04/09/2024

€ 'ON N1l VANIDV



9 abed

o to review and/or scrutinise decisions proposed to be made (pre-decision scrutiny) or actions taken in connection with
the discharge of any of the Council’s functions;

o to review existing policy and strategy with a view to securing continuous improvement in the way in which the Council’s
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness;

. to make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the Cabinet in connection with the discharge of any
functions;

o to review and/or scrutinise any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants;

. to discuss initiatives put forward for consideration by individual members of the Committee and any relevant ‘call-for-

action’ in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; and

o to consider petitions referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in accordance with provisions set out in the
Petition Scheme set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Last Updated 04/09/2024



G9 abed

(A) ISSUES CURRENTLY BEING PROGRESSED BY THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE TASK AND FINISH

GROUPS

ISSUE (PURPOSE OF
REVIEW)

TASK AND
GROUP
(MEMBERSHIP 2024/25)

FINISH

CURRENT WORK

To monitor the
performance and
activities of Registered
Providers working in
the Borough.

Clirs Gaynor Austin,
Halleh Koohestani
(Chair), S.J. Masterson,
Bill O’'Donovan and M.D.
Smith.

The Review and Planning meeting for the Registered Providers Group
will take place on 23 September @ 18:00.

To review the Council
Tax Support Scheme

Clirs P.J. Cullum, C.P.
Grattan, Lisa Greenway,
M.J. Roberts and Stuart
Trussler (Vice-Chair)

To consider further the
economical and
environmental impacts
of Farnborough
Airport on the Borough.

Clirs Craig Card, A.H.
Crawford, P.J. Cullum,
Halleh Koohestani
(Chair), G.B. Lyon and
Bill O’'Donovan with Clir
Jules Crossley (Policy,
Climate & Sustainability
Portfolio Holder) as an
invitee as required.

Last Updated 04/09/2024




99 abed

(B) OTHER ISSUES CURRENTLY BEING PROGRESSED BY THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

ISSUE

CURRENT WORK

Arts and Culture

At its November meeting the Committee were apprised of the work being undertaken in
conjunction with the Hampshire Cultural Trust and Arts Council England on arts and cultural
activity on the Borough. A further meeting would be held on this item in 6-12 months.

Asset Management

At its meeting in January 2024, the Committee received a presentation detailing progress on the
Asset Management Strategy and future delivery, and a review of the portfolio and principles of
disposal in light of the budget.

A watching briefing would be maintained on progress during the 2024/25 Municipal Year.

Cabinet Champions

The two Cabinet Champions attended the meeting in March to provide a report on their work and
activities during 2023/24. The work of both Champions was noted and the recommended
priorities for 2024/25 endorsed.

Last Updated 04/09/2024




OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

WORKFLOW — June 2024- March 2025

DATE ITEMS

13th June 2024 Registered Providers T&F Annual Report
Housing and Homelessness Prevention Strategy

1st August 2024 SERCO

12th September 2024

Financial Matters/CIPFA Report

19th September 2024

Police and Community Safety

24th October 2024

12th December 2024

30th January 2025

27th March 2025

Potential Future
ltems for the
Committee in
2024/25 (in order of
priority)

Property — Disposals Update & Union Yard, Lettings
Highways issues — HCC

Risk Register

Leader of the Council — Priorities (when appropriate)
Housing and Homelessness Prevention Strategy
(Part 2)

Climate Change Action Plan (inc. water quality)
Ward Grant & Charitable Support (CA/RVS)
Community and Youth Engagement (Currently with
PPAB)

abRhwN =

© N

Last Updated 04/09/2024

Page 67




89 abed

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Progress Meetings 2024/25

Membership: Clir Leola Card, P.J. Cullum, Thomas Day, Clive Grattan, Halleh Koohestani (Chair), Bill O’'Donovan and Stuart

Trussler (Vice Chair)

DATE

ITEM

NOTES

02.07.2024

SERCO - scoping of
item for 1 August

Housing and
Homelessness
Prevention Strategy —
request to Cabinet to
review the strategy
(June 13 meeting)

Annual report will be finalised — a summary of the report will be presented at the
meeting
Areas of concern include,
- grass cutting changes and impacts (rewilding)
- Waste Management — what are the %’s and how can we improve? Consider
national changes due in 2027
- Focus on key services provided - how can we improve? / cost / effectiveness /
performance against KPI's
- Renewal of contract
- Benchmarking against other councils

Important to review the data requested at the meeting prior to making a decision on a
review of the strategy by the Cabinet. Data will provide context to those carrying out a
review to determine if the strategy is achievable/objectives realistic.

Cabinet Member minded to review anyway, is it better to wait until any changes have
been made? Could offer engagement services from the Committee as part of the
review.

ACTION - follow up on request for data — AT/ZP

ACTION - data request — how long are people in temp accommodation? How do we
move people from temp to permanent accommodation?

Last Updated 04/09/2024




69 abed

Police and Community
Safety - September 19
meeting

Future items for
consideration

Produce list of asks for the Chief Inspector and Community Safety Team at next PG
meeting.

A list has been added to the Potential items above.

02.09.2024

Financial Matters /
CIPFA Report
(12 September)

Police and Community
Safety
(19 September)

Work Plan

Simon Allsop of CIPFA will be attending online to talk through the recent CIPFA
Report. Request for a clear understanding of the recommendations within the report.
Establish what OSC can do to provide effective scrutiny, best practice/key lines of
enquiry etc. What lessons have we learnt?

Update on current position of the Council in response to the report.

Areas to cover at the meeting included:

- General overview of Community Safety

- Report back from the Joint Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

- What’s gone well

- Top 5 thing for GC/DL

- CPO teams

- Challenges

- What can be done better

- Cops and Coffee

- 101/online SLAs

- Boundary areas

Members prioritised the work plan as set out above.

Last Updated 04/09/2024




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	2 FINANCIAL MATTERS - CIPFA REPORT
	3 Work Plan

